

"Unveiling the Therapeutic Potential of Sarcopoterium spinosum Fruits: A Comprehensive Exploration from Chemical Characterization to Cellular Models of Health Challenges."

> Hawraa Zbeeb Ph.D. Thesis February 15<sup>th</sup>, 2024



#### Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra, dell'Ambiente e della Vita (DiSTAV)

Corso di Dottorato in: SCIENZE E TECNOLOGIE PER L'AMBIENTE E IL TERRITORIO (STAT) Curriculum: BIOLOGIA APPLICATA ALL'AGRICULTURA E ALL'AMBIENTE XXXVI Ciclo

> PhD student: Hawraa Zbeeb Advisor : Prof. Laura VERGANI

"Unveiling the Therapeutic Potential of *Sarcopoterium spinosum* Fruits: A Comprehensive Exploration from Chemical Characterization to Cellular Models of Health Challenges."

## **Acknowledgments**

With profound gratitude, I extend my heartfelt appreciation to my supervisor, Prof. Laura Vergani, whose unwavering support and ingenious guidance accompanied me throughout my thesis journey. Her vast knowledge and infinite patience were invaluable assets.

I am also indebted to Prof. Giulio Lupidi of the University of Camerino, Italy, and Prof. Hala Khalifeh, as well as Prof. Ahmad Daher of the Lebanese University, Lebanon. Their generosity in providing me the opportunity to undertake a portion of my project in the esteemed laboratories of biochemistry and applied biochemistry at the University of Camerino and the ATAC Laboratory in Beirut significantly enriched my research experience. Special thanks to Dr. Francesca Baldini for her unwavering support and guidance, contributing to the successful completion of the project.

Lastly, my deepest gratitude goes to my parents, family, and friends. Their unwavering support and constant encouragement have been my pillars of strength throughout my years of study. This achievement is as much theirs as it is mine. I am profoundly grateful for their enduring presence and belief in my journey.

Thank you all.

# Table of Contents

Acknowledgments
Table of Contents
List of abbreviations
List of figures
List of tables
Abstract
1. Chapter one: Introduction
1.1. History and Constituents of Medicinal Plants
1.2. Rosaceae Botanical Background
1.3. Sarcopoterium spinosum
1.4. Polyphenols
1.5. Metabolic disorders
1.5.1. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
1.5.2. Endothelial dysfunction
1.5.3. Insulin resistance
1.6. Cellular models
1.6.1. Cellular model of hepatic steatosis
1.6.2. Cellular model of endothelial dysfunction
1.6.3. Cellular model of insulin resistance
2. Chapter two: Aims of the study
3. Chapter Three: Polyphenol-enriched extracts of Sarcopoterium spinosum fruits for counteracting
lipid accumulation and oxidative stress in an in vitro model of hepatic steatosis
3.1. Introduction
3.2. Materials and methods
3.3. Results
3.4. Discussion
4. Chapter Four: The anti-inflammatory potential of an ethanolic extract from Sarcopoterium
spinosum fruits for protection and/or counteraction against oxidative stress in dysfunctional endothelial
<i>cells</i>

ł

<i>4.1</i> .	Introduction	60
4.2.	Materials and methods	
<i>4.3</i> .	Results	67
4.4.	Discussion	
5. Ch	apter Five: Development of human models of insulin resistance in hepatoma He	pG2 cells 80
5.1.	Introduction	
5.2.	Material and methods	
5.3.	Results	
5.4.	Discussion	
Conclus	sions	
Bibliog	raphy	

# List of abbreviations

ABTS	$\label{eq:2-2-azino-bis} (3-ethyl benzo-thiazoline-6-sulphonate)$
APAP	N-acetyl-para-aminophenol
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAT	Catalase enzyme
Cg	Corilagin
DCF	2'-7'dichlorofluorescein
DCF-DA	2'-7'dichlorofluorescin diacetate
DPPH	2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
FRAP	Ferric reducing antioxidant power
GAE	Gallic Acid Equivalents
LD	Lipid droplet
MDA	Malondialdehyde
NAFLD	Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
OP	Steatotic cells
PCs	Phenolic compounds
QE	Quercetin equivalent
Qu	Quercetin
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SBWE	Boiling water extract
SEE	Ethanol extract
SWE	Water extract
ТА	Tormentic acid
TBA	Thiobarbituric acid
TBARS	Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances
TEAC	Trolox equivalent antioxidant activity
TG	Triglyceride
TPC	Total phenol content
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
GC	Glucose Consumption
HCL	Hydrochloric Acid
HepG2	Human Hepatoma Cell Line
$H_2SO_4$	Sulfuric Acid

IR	Insulin Resistance
КОН	Potassium Hydroxide
MetS	Metabolic Syndrome
NaOH	Sodium Hydroxide
ORO	Oil-RedO Staining
PB	Phosphate Buffer
OP	Oleate/Palmitate
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes
GSH	Reduced glutathione
GSSG	Oxidized glutathione
H2O2	Hydrogen peroxide
HECV	Human endothelial cells
NO	Nitric oxide
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
PPs	Polyphenols
SEE	Sarcopoterium spinosum fruits ethanol extract

# List of figures

Figure-1 Thesis graphical abstract1
-------------------------------------

Figure 3-1 Chapter three graphical abstract	.31
Figure 3-2 Characteristics and distibution of Sarcopterium spinosum shrub	.42
Figure 3-3 HPLC-MS/MS analysis and cytotoxicity of the S. spinosum ethanolic extract	.44
Figure 3- 4 Antisteatotic activity of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract	.47
Figure 3- 5 Antioxidant activity of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract	.49
Figure 3- 6 Antisteatotic and antioxidant activity of Corilagin and Quercetin	.52

Figure 4- 1 Chapter four graphical abstract	57
Figure 4-2 S. spinosum characteristics and distribution	63
Figure 4- 3 Antioxidant activity of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract	70
Figure 4- 4 Anti-inflammatory activity of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract	72
Figure 4- 5 Wound repair promoting effect of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract	73

Figure 5-1 Chapter five graphical abstract	80
Figure 5-2 Steatotic activity of Oleate/Palmitate on HepG2 cells	90
Figure 5-3 Insulin effects with different concentrations and time exposure on Ha	epG2 cells 91
Figure 5- 4 Comparative analyses between hyperinsulinemia and lipid accumulat	ion to
induced insulin resistance	93

# List of tables

Table 3- 1 Phytochemical content and antioxidant ability of S. spinosum fruit extracts43
Table 3- 2 Major components identified in S. spinosum fruit ethanol extract by using HPLC-
MS/MS in the negative ionization mode45

### **Abstract**

The search for new bioactive compounds is of increasing interest, and it seems that despite new technical and scientific progress, most of the active ingredients have been known for centuries. Indeed, plants are an inexhaustible source of bioactive compounds that have been used since ancient times in both folk medicines and as preservatives of food. Medicinal plants have always been of interest for many kinds of industries because of their multiple applications for their antioxidant, antibacterial and cytoprotective properties. Plants, and plant-derived secondary metabolites may be applied in the management of a broad spectrum of metabolic dysfunction including obesity, fatty liver, cardiovascular disease. Metabolic diseases encompass a broad category of disorders characterized by disruptions of the body's metabolic homeostasis. These conditions impact on many metabolic pathways, such as glucose and lipid metabolism, with severe consequences for human health.

Many phytochemicals being found in plants may exhibit diverse properties that can modulate metabolic pathways, enhance insulin sensitivity, and regulate lipid metabolism. Among them, *Sarcopoterium spinosum* has emerged as a noteworthy medicinal plant with the potential to address metabolic diseases. Indigenous to the Mediterranean region and the Middle East, this botanical species boasts a rich history in traditional medicine. Recent research has spotlighted its anti-diabetic properties, particularly in the context of its root extracts exhibiting the capacity to regulate blood glucose levels and enhance insulin sensitivity. A flourishing interest has emerged regarding its role as a natural remedy for metabolic disorders, contributing to the expanding array of medicinal plants with the potential to promote metabolic equilibrium and overall well-being. Notably, ongoing investigations have predominantly focused on the roots rather than the fruits of *S. spinosum*.

In the context of this exploration, my PhD thesis aims to study different extracts derived from S. spinosum fruits, examining their bioactive compounds and their promising potential in ameliorating health and metabolic diseases. Three extracts were prepared from S. spinosum fruits, employing water, boiling water, and ethanol as extraction solvents. The ethanol extract, being distinguished by its superior radical scavenging potential, was selected for a detailed examination of the polyphenolic profile and the investigation of the potential beneficial effects. Two relevant cellular models were employed in this study: the rat hepatoma cell line (FaO) to mimic a cell model of hepatic steatosis, and the human endothelial cell line (HECV) to mimic a dysfunctional endothelium. The findings unveiled a rich profile of bioactive compounds for the ethanol extract, highlighting its abundance in ellagitannins, flavonoids, and terpenoids. Notably, this comprehensive chemical composition corresponded with the extract's demonstrated lipid-lowering, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and cytoprotective properties. In the final step of our investigation, our focus shifted to the design and develop a cellular model of insulin resistance utilizing the human hepatoma cell line HepG2. Employing hyperinsulinemia and fat accumulation as inducers, we successfully elicited the insulin resistance *in vitro* and this model will be tested using the S. spinosum extracts.

In conclusion, the outcome of this PhD thesis shows that *S. spinosum* fruits could be a source of many bioactive compounds and the extracts represent a promising candidate to develop nutraceuticals or dietary supplements to treat/prevent obesity-related metabolic diseases.

## Sarcopoterium spinosum fruits



Figure-1 Thesis graphical abstract.

## 1. Chapter one: Introduction

Oxidative stress is a condition characterized by the disrupted balance between the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) or free radicals and the body's antioxidant defence mechanisms, tilting the scale in favour of oxidants. This phenomenon plays a pivotal role in numerous physio-pathological conditions including many chronic diseases, contributing to various pathological processes. Diabetes, cancer, arthritis, atherosclerosis, muscular dystrophy, pulmonary dysfunction, ischemia-reperfusion tissue damage, aging, degenerative diseases, and neurological disorders like Alzheimer and Parkinson diseases are associated with oxidative stress.

The detrimental impact of oxidative stress is evident in the oxidation of essential cellular components such as lipids, nucleic acids, and proteins. This oxidation interferes with the physiological cellular functions, ultimately leading to cell senescence, growth arrest, and cell death.

Throughout history, people have turned the interest to bioactive molecules derived from plants due to their natural, effective, and low side-effect properties. Notably, there has been extensive research on plants rich in polyphenols, which have been thoroughly studied and characterized for their diverse array of antioxidant properties. Therefore, polyphenols identified and extracted from various plants are being actively investigated as potential candidates for disease prevention and health maintenance. In essence, the exploration of polyphenol rich plants and their isolated bioactive compounds represents a promising avenue in the quest for natural solutions to combat oxidative stress and its associated chronic diseases.

#### **1.1.** History and Constituents of Medicinal Plants

Plants provide an important bio-resource of potential therapeutic compounds. Due to their wide therapeutic spectrum and minimal side effects, people count on plants to treat different diseases. The whole plant as well as the seeds, fruits, roots, leaves, skin and flowers are usually collected at different seasonal times [1] and used as tincture, extract, infusion, inhalation, cream or active ingredients[2]. Active compounds isolated from medicinal plants and found to exert physiological effects on living organisms are used to synthetize drugs.

Since ancient time, plants have been treasured for their healing and pain relieving ability and 75% of the medicines rely on plants' curative property [3]. The selection and exact harvest time of plants have always been done randomly [4]. Pollens were collected from Neanderthal burial at Shanidar caves indicating that plants have been used as medicines almost 60000 years ago [5]. Initially, the knowledge about plants' application to treat certain ailment were only orally transmitted. Later, scripts were discovered dating back to almost 5000 years ago in China, Egypt, and India, and at least 2500 years ago in Central Asia and Greece. In fact, hundreds of medicinal plants, such as opium, were listed on clay tablets dating back to 5000 years ago from the Sumerian civilization in Nagpur [4]. The methods of preparation and use of medicinal plants including garlic, castor oil and myrrh were found listed on Egyptian Ebers Papyrus (approximately 1500 BCE) [6]. Although traditional Chinese medicine dates back at least to 2200 years, the earliest written record only dates to 300 BCE. In the western world, the science of medicinal plants related to the Roman and Greek cultures was documented in the "De Materia Medica" written by the Greek physician Dioscorides between 50 and 70 CE [3].

Until the 18<sup>th</sup> century, there was not a clear knowledge about the nature of the active compounds and their pharmacological activities. The clinical investigation of medicinal plants started when Anton von Storck studied the poisonous plants colchicum and aconite, and William Wuthering used the foxglove for the treatment of edema [7]. In the 19<sup>th</sup> century, German Friedrich Seturner isolated analgesic morphine from opium, which marked the beginning of plant derived drug discovery [7]. Since then, many plant constituents are being isolated from different medicinal plants and used in drug development.

Plant constituents referred to as phytochemicals, active compounds or secondary metabolites do not contribute to the growth and development of the plants but rather help them survive in their environment by protecting them from microbial infections and herbivorous attacks, help them attract insects for pollination and give them colour, taste and odor [8]. Humans use plant constituents as agrochemicals, pharmaceuticals, Flavors, food additives, colouring agent and fragrances [9].

They were found to carry antioxidant, antimicrobial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, anti-fungal, anti-lipogenic, anti-hypertensive and anti-cancer activities [10]. Phytochemicals either interact with their target human proteins or alter the growth of commensal, parasitic or pathogenic organisms living inside the human body. Such compounds strengthen the human health by lowering the risk factors and preventing the onset of degenerative diseases including cardiovascular diseases, cancers and neural disorders [11].

Plant-derived phytochemicals or secondary metabolites are usually classified based on their chemical structure rather than their biological action [12]. They can be categorized into four major classes: alkaloids, terpenoids, phenolics and sulphur-containing compounds. Phytochemicals can be extracted using variable solvents with different polarities in order to be identified and investigated for potential biological effects [13].

#### **1.2.** Rosaceae Botanical Background

The Mediterranean region harbor a great biodiversity. It is highly rich in medicinal plants; about 25000 species are native to this region with many endemic and rare plants [14]. Medicinal plants are largely used for their therapeutic effects in the Middle East, specifically, Lebanon is one of the most important center of floral biodiversity [15] due to its geographic location, varied topography, definite soil types and climatic variations [16]. Lebanese flora counts 2607 species divided into 783 genera, 78 of which are endemic [2]. The list of Lebanese medicinal plants is continuously being updated as many studies focus on identifying and characterizing the biological and therapeutic values of these plants [16].

The Rosaceae family, also known as the rose family, stands out as one of the most diverse and

economically vital plant families globally, and can be classified into four subfamilies: Spiraeoideae, Maloideae, Rosoideae, and Amygdaloideae [17]. With over 3,000 recognized species and numerous horticulturally important cultivated varieties, this plant family holds a pivotal position in both natural ecosystems and human agriculture [18]. Rosaceae family members are distributed worldwide, with a particular prevalence in temperate regions of the Northern Hemisphere. This diverse family encompasses an array of plants, including trees, shrubs, and perennial herbaceous plants [19]. Among its ranks are some of the most iconic and economically significant fruits, including apples (*Malus domestica*), pears (*Pyrus*), cherries (*Prunus*), and strawberries (*Fragaria*) [20], they constitute a significant part of the human diet and are rich in various phytochemicals, including flavonoids, phenolic compounds, cyanogenic glucosides, phytoestrogens, and phenols. These compounds have the potential to offer numerous health benefits and may help combat various diseases [21]. Some notable antioxidants and cancer-inhibiting substances found in these fruits include L-ascorbic acid, quercetin, kaempferol, myricetin, p-coumaric acid, gallic acid, and ellagic acid.

#### **1.3.** Sarcopoterium spinosum

*Sarcopoterium spinosum* (L.) Spach, is a small, thorny shrub belonging to the Rosaceae family. In English, it is referred to as "Prickly Shrubby Burnet," while in Arabic, it goes by the names "Bilan" or "Natch". It typically reaches a height of 30 to 60 cm and features branches that terminate in thorns without leaves [22]. The flowers are small and typically greenish-pink and usually blooms during the spring and early summer [23]. In addition, its fruits are small and inconspicuous, usually measuring about 3-5 mm in diameter. They are typically round or slightly oval in shape, resembling small seeds or grains, when mature mainly from July to August, SS fruits can vary in color, often appearing shades of brown, reddish-brown, or even greyish [23]. These fruits are often referred to as "achenes" because they are dry, single-seeded fruits that remain intact when mature. Achenes are a common type of fruit found in plants of

the rose family [24], [25].

*S. spinosum* thrives in a wide range of climatic conditions, from the semi-arid areas between the Mediterranean and Irano-Turanian vegetation zones to the sub-humid Mediterranean regions, it can be found in various countries surrounding the Mediterranean Sea, including parts of Europe, North Africa, and the Middle East [26]. It had adapted to thrive in arid and semi-arid environments including coastal areas, hillsides, and disturbed soils, and is often found in dry, rocky, or sandy soils [26].

It is predominantly distributed in the Eastern Mediterranean and has been the subject of early studies in geobotany, eco-physiology, life cycle, and successional aspects. Long ago, within Arab villages, the entire shrub served a variety of practical purposes [22]. It was utilized as a source of fuel, for constructing fences and enclosures for sheep, for crafting brooms from its branches, and as filling material for mattresses. Furthermore, the branches were employed to provide protective cover for delicate young plants, shielding them from the threat of birds and animals [27].

Some ethnopharmacological studies reported the usage of *S. spinosum* extract for the treatment of several disorders. The majority of surveys indicate an aqueous extract made from the roots as the main treatment for diabetes [2], [28]. Other traditional uses of *S. spinosum* were also mentioned that include pain relief [29], particularly for toothache and disorders related to the digestive system, as well as applications for asthma, kidney stones, and poisoning [30].

Extensive literature underscores the promising potential of the aqueous extract from *S. spinosum* roots as a nutraceutical supplement. It demonstrates effectiveness in preventing and treating hepatic steatosis, enhancing insulin sensitivity, and impeding the early stages of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), as well as alterations in gene expressions associated with inflammation, lipid, and carbohydrate metabolism have been observed in studies conducted on high-fat diet (HFD)-fed mice [31], [32]. In addition, it demonstrated its antidiabetic potential through inhibiting lipolysis and increasing insulin secretion thus stimulating glucose uptake and

glycogen synthesis and cell viability in AML-12 hepatocytes and L6 myotubes [33] and it improved insulin sensitivity, reduced fasting blood glucose, and prevented islet hypertrophy in diabetic mice [34]. The anti-inflammatory properties of S. spinosum root extract was also proved, it demonstrated the immunomodulatory effects in macrophages, inhibiting proinflammatory responses and promoting anti-inflammatory gene expression, and in obese mice, it reduced adipose tissue inflammation, suggesting its potential as a novel anti-inflammatory agent [35]. Lastly, the root extract demonstrated its potential as a novel agent for treating insulin resistance as it activated insulin signalling, evidenced by increased Glut4-facilitated glucose uptake and phosphorylation of key signalling proteins 3T3-L1 adipocytes [36]. In contrast, while the aerial parts of S. spinosum, particularly the fruits, have received limited investigation, a comparative analysis involving boiled extracts from leaves, fruits, and roots revealed that the antidiabetic activity of the leaves and fruits was observed, although with lower efficacy compared to the roots. This was evidenced by the inhibition of  $\alpha$ -amylase and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase activity, as well as the enhancement of basal and glucose-induced insulin secretion in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myotubes [37]. Moreover, S. spinosum fruit extracts, obtained through supercritical fluid and Soxhlet extractions, yielded an antioxidant-rich residual water with high polyphenol and flavonoid content, featuring potent tyrosinase inhibition and the presence of identified compounds such as quercetin glucuronide and luteolin 7-O-glucuronide [23]. Recently, an ethanol extract derived from S. spinosum leaves and thorns demonstrated its cytotoxic effects on cancer cells [38].

For this purpose, *Sarcopoterium spinosum* fruits were gathered from the wild in Haddatha, South Lebanon (Latitude: 33° 09' 60.00" N, Longitude: 35° 22' 59.99"), in August 2020. Subsequently, various extracts were prepared using distinct solvents: ethanol, water, and boiling water. This choice was guided by the expectation that different solvents might selectively enhance the extraction of hydrophilic compounds to varying degrees.

The three extracts underwent characterization in terms of phenol content (TPC), flavonoid

content (TFC), and radical scavenging ability. Although no significant differences were observed in TPC and TFC among the three extracts, the ethanolic extract exhibited superior potency in terms of radical scavenging capabilities.

#### **1.4.** Polyphenols

Polyphenols (PPs) or phenolic compounds are natural molecules found abundantly in plants and showing various biological activities. They are the most essential non-nutrient bioactive compounds [73] because of their health-promoting properties including antioxidant, anticancer, anti-inflammatory, anti-microbial, anti-allergic, anti-atherogenic, anti-mutagenic, antilipogenic, anti-hypertensive and anti-thrombotic effects [19,71]. Polyphenols were described to slow down neurodegenerative diseases [74], cardiovascular diseases [75], diabetes [76] and metabolic disorders [77].

Polyphenols are structurally characterized by having at least one aromatic ring attached to one or more hydroxyl groups [71]. Natural PPs can be categorized according to their chemical structure into phenolic acids, flavonoids, and non-flavonoids [73]. These groups differ in their bioavailability, stability, and physiological function in humans [78]. Polyphenols can be associated with other polyphenols, organic acids and carbohydrates which increases their complexity, diversity, and ability to reach various molecular targets [19]. Flavonoids make the largest group among all polyphenols and are further divided into flavones, flavonols, flavanones, flavanols, isoflavones and anthocyanidins [19]. They have a chemical structure of 15 carbons (C6-C3-C6) consisting of two phenolic rings (A and B) linked by an oxygenated heterocyclic ring C [73]. Phenolic acids make 30% of the bound and free PPs [73] and are generally found in fruits and coffee beans [4]. They are derived from hydroxycinnamic (C6-C3) and hydroxybenzoic (C6-C1) acids, having one or more hydroxyl groups and a carboxylic acid function at the benzene ring [73]. Hydroxycinnamic acids (HCA) can be synthesized from tyrosine and phenylalanine, and fruits are considered their primary sources. Concerning nonflavonoid polyphenols, they include resveratrol, ellagic acid and derivatives, lignans, curcumin, rosmarinic acid, gallic acid, caffeic acid and tannins [78]. The antioxidant property of polyphenols contributes significantly to disease prevention [79]. The structure of the functional groups dictates the efficiency of polyphenols' antioxidant activities. Indeed, the ability to act as radical scavengers and metal ion chelators is greatly influenced by the number and position of hydroxyl groups in a polyphenol [80]. For instance, flavonols such as quercetin that contain three hydroxyl groups showed higher antioxidant activity than those with less hydroxyl groups [80]. Moreover, it was found that the bigger the distance between the aromatic ring and carboxyl group in phenolic acids the more the antioxidant activity such as in cinnamic acids and derivatives versus benzoic acids [81].

In plants, polyphenols are the largest group of secondary metabolites. More than 8000 polyphenols (4000 of which are flavonoids) were identified with various chemical structures in edible plants [71,78]. PPs can be found in fruits (apples, grapes, cherries, pears, and berries), vegetables, beverages (tea, coffee, and red wine), chocolate, cereals, nuts, and legumes. Also, they are present in spices, flowers, herbs, leaves, barks, roots, seeds, and stems [71,82]. Several environmental factors affect the phenolic content of plants such as exposure to light, type of soil, culture method, rainfall, and fruit yield per tree. For instance, phenolic acids concentration varies according to the ripening process while flavonoids concentration depends on the exposure to light [82].

Polyphenols have many modes of action including radicals scavenging and ROS formation suppression [73,82]. They can donate an electron or hydrogen atom to a broad range of ROS, including superoxide and hydroxyl radicals thus neutralizing them [73]. They can disrupt lipid peroxidation chain reactions by donating an electron to the free radicals, making them more stable and less reactive radicals [78]. Moreover, polyphenols act as metal chelators, such as ferrous ions (Fe2+), thereby preventing hydroxyl radicals' production [73]. They can inhibit the oxidative damage caused by arachidonic acid metabolizing enzymes [82] and promote

antioxidant enzymes (superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase) [78]. In the course of my thesis research, we started with the characterization of the phytochemical composition of the ethanolic extract from *Sarcopoterium spinosum* fruits, employing HPLC coupled with MS/MS in negative ionization mode for the first time. The ethanolic extract revealed a substantial richness in polyphenols. Notably, the ellagitannin family emerged as the most prevalent group of PPs in the extract, constituting approximately 50.8%. Additionally, notable quantities of triterpenes (around 11.9%) and flavonoids (approximately 7%) were discerned in the extract.

#### **1.5.** Metabolic disorders

A metabolic disease is a medical condition that disrupts the normal metabolic processes within the body, impacting the conversion of food into energy and the regulation of essential substances like carbohydrates, fats, and proteins [39]. These disorders often involve dysregulation in enzymes, hormones, or other metabolic pathways. Common examples include diabetes mellitus, obesity, and metabolic syndrome, high blood pressure, elevated blood sugar, and abnormal lipid levels that collectively heighten the risk of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes [40]. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease involves fat accumulation in the liver, and thyroid disorders can affect overall metabolic function. Management of these diseases often requires medical intervention, lifestyle adjustments, and ongoing treatment to control symptoms and prevent complications [41].

The prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MetS), characterized by a collection of interconnected metabolic disorders, has been consistently on the rise globally. The International Diabetes Federation reports that around 25% of the world's adult population is affected by MetS, with predictions anticipating a further increase in the coming decades [42]. This surge in MetS and its associated risk factors is attributed to a blend of genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors [43], compounded by sedentary lifestyles marked by low physical activity and high-

energy diets [44]. Current management approaches primarily involve lifestyle modifications and pharmaceutical drugs targeting specific metabolic pathways. However, these drugs are costly, often result in poor patient compliance, and may yield undesirable side effects with prolonged use. Moreover, their focus tends to be limited, addressing only a subset of health outcomes related to metabolic dysfunction [45]. Consequently, there is a pressing need for research and development of alternative strategies to manage metabolic disorders. Medicinal plants emerge as a promising avenue for addressing MetS risk factors, defined as plants or plant preparations with health-promoting characteristics [46]. Healthcare practitioners increasingly recognize the potential of medicinal plants in managing and preventing metabolic disorders all over the world. Medicinal plants house pharmacodynamically active compounds with additive and synergistic effects that prove beneficial in treating metabolic disorders.

#### **1.5.1.** Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a prevalent liver condition marked by the accumulation of fat in liver cells, unrelated to excessive alcohol consumption [47]. It encompasses a spectrum of disorders, ranging from simple fatty liver to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), which involves inflammation and liver cell damage [48]. Often associated with obesity, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome, NAFLD poses a significant health risk [49]. Risk factors include excess body weight, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome components. While early stages are usually asymptomatic, progression can lead to symptoms such as fatigue, upper abdominal discomfort, and, in severe cases, manifestations of liver failure like jaundice and confusion [50].

NAFLD is a complex and multifactorial disease, and its pathogenesis was initially explained by the "2-hit hypothesis." According to this hypothesis, the first hit involves hepatic triglyceride accumulation or steatosis, while the second hit is triggered by factors like inflammatory cytokines/adipokines, mitochondrial dysfunction, and oxidative stress, leading to steatohepatitis and hepatic fibrosis [51]. It is now understood that free fatty acids (FFAs) directly contribute to liver injury. Various risk factors and mechanisms contribute to the accumulation of excessive triglycerides in hepatocytes, causing NAFLD. These factors include excess body fat, insulin resistance, inflammation, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, endoplasmic reticulum stress, bacterial overgrowth, and genetic predisposition [52]–[55].

As of now, there is no ideal pharmacological treatment available for NAFLD. Consequently, lifestyle modification, encompassing a healthy diet, vigorous physical activity, and weight reduction, remains the primary approach for NAFLD treatment [56]. Despite its efficacy, longterm adherence to lifestyle modification can be challenging, and certain weight loss diets may have adverse effects on the liver. Recognizing the limitations and potential drawbacks of these approaches, there is a considerable interest in identifying therapeutic agents for preventing and treating NAFLD progression. Given the potential adverse effects associated with conventional medical therapies, attention has shifted towards exploring complementary and natural therapies, including herbal medicine and functional foods (e.g., fruits, vegetables) and their extracts [57]. Chapter one of this thesis investigates the potential lipid-lowering effect of an ethanolic extract from Sarcopoterium spinosum fruits using an in vitro model of moderate hepatic steatosis. FaO hepatoma cells were subjected to a fatty acid mixture to simulate the physiological conditions of a high-fat diet. Subsequently, the steatotic cells underwent incubation with the S. spinosum extract at varying concentrations. The results proved the extract's efficacy in attenuating lipid accumulation and its antioxidant capabilities in mitigating oxidative stress induced by the accumulation of fatty acids.

#### **1.5.2.** Endothelial dysfunction

The vascular endothelium consists of a single layer of specialized cells known as endothelial cells, creating a boundary between the underlying smooth muscle cells in the vascular lumen. The functionality of endothelial cells can vary significantly depending on their environment

[58]. For instance, the endothelium forming the blood-brain barrier differs markedly in functional characteristics from that lining the aorta. Despite these variations, all endothelial cells share common functions, such as regulating haemostasis, maintaining vascular permeability, mediating acute and chronic immune responses to injuries, and controlling vascular tone [59]. Endothelial cells synthesize various significant vasoactive compounds, such as nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclin, endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF), carbon monoxide, endothelin, vasoactive prostanoids, and superoxide [60]. Alongside other substances generated by the endothelium, these factors play a role in regulating local thrombotic and inflammatory pathways, thereby impacting the initiation and advancement of atherosclerosis and its associated complications [61].

Impairment of the endothelium represents a multifaceted pathophysiological occurrence encompassing heightened endothelial cell activation and the initiation of endothelial dysfunction [62]. This activation involves an inflammatory and coagulation-promoting state within the endothelial cells, marked by the emergence of surface adhesion molecules necessary for attracting and bonding with inflammatory cells [63], [64]. This state of activation is triggered by cytokines released by tissues and organs during inflammatory situations.

Numerous studies have demonstrated the significant role of oxidative stress in arranging the production and release of cytokines, establishing a connection between reactive oxygen species (ROS), inflammation, and the activation and dysfunction of endothelial cells [65], [66]. Within endothelial cells, nitric oxide (NO) governs the maintenance of vascular homeostasis. The decline in NO availability, stemming from diminished production and/or heightened degradation by the superoxide anion, signifies the initiation of ED [67]. Specifically, the interaction of superoxide anion with NO results in the formation of peroxynitrite (ONOO–). Subsequently, peroxynitrite fosters protein nitration, contributing to the dysfunction and demise of endothelial cells [68]. Superoxide anion is produced by various enzymes, including NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase, and uncoupled eNOS. Moreover, alterations in mitochondrial

respiratory chain complexes significantly contribute to the generation of chemical species associated with oxidative stress [69].

Diverse pathological conditions, such as hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, mental stress, aging, and exposure to certain drugs, have the potential to disrupt the molecular mechanisms regulating NO bioavailability, thereby influencing endothelial function [70]–[72]. Consequently, conventional therapeutic approaches targeting improvements in insulin sensitivity, glycemic control, lipid profiles, and blood pressure often prove effective in ameliorating endothelial dysfunction.

In the second chapter of this thesis, we explored the prospective anti-inflammatory and cytoprotective aspects of the ethanol extract derived from *Sarcopoterium spinosum* fruits, utilizing an *in vitro* model of endothelial dysfunction. Human endothelial cells (HECV) were exposed to hydrogen peroxide to mimic the oxidative conditions that occur physiologically. Following this, the stressed cells were subjected to incubation with the ethanol extract. The outcomes conclusively demonstrate the extract's effectiveness in averting and ameliorating endothelial dysfunction, attributing these beneficial effects to its anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties.

#### **1.5.3.** Insulin resistance

Insulin is a polypeptide hormone produced by the  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreatic islets of Langerhans; its secretion is triggered by the presence of high concentrations of glucose and amino acids in the bloodstream, often in response to a meal. Insulin plays a central role in regulating glucose levels in the body, contributing to the maintenance of glucose homeostasis. Of note insulin isa central hormone in the body energy homeostasis being key regulator of the anabolic processes, including tissue growth and development [73].

In a healthy individual, the blood glucose level (glycemia) is tightly controlled within a narrow range of values through the regulation of glucose synthesis/release primarily by the liver, and

to a lesser extent by the kidney, and the uptake of glucose by peripheral tissues, notably skeletal muscle, liver, and adipose tissue [74]. Insulin also controls the lipid metabolism by promoting lipid synthesis in the liver and adipose tissue, and by inhibiting lipolysis (the breakdown of triglycerides into fatty acids) [75].

Insulin resistance (IR), also known as impaired insulin sensitivity, happens when cells in your muscles, fat and liver don't respond as they should to insulin. Therefore, IR can be described as the inability of insulin to effectively stimulate the disposal of glucose. For several reasons, muscle, fat, and liver cells respond inappropriately to insulin, which means they cannot efficiently take up glucose from your blood or store it. As a result, the pancreas makes more insulin to try to overcome your increasing blood glucose levels leading to e condition called hyperinsulinemia, which, over time, leads to prediabetes and type 2 diabetes (T2D) [76]. Because of this heightened demand for insulin production, the  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreas undergoes hypertrophy [77].

Insulin acts on the tissues by binding to its receptor (called insulin receptor) thus initiating a complex signalling cascade. This involves autophosphorylation of the insulin receptor and subsequent activation of the insulin receptor substrate (IRS 1/2). Activated IRS sets off three pivotal pathways: PI3K/AKT, facilitating glucose transport; TSC1/2-mTOR, critical for protein synthesis and responsive to insulin and nutrient factors; and the RAS-MAPK pathway, supporting cell survival and division by regulating gene expression, mitogenesis, and differentiation. Overall, insulin signalling plays a central role in glucose metabolism, protein synthesis, and cell survival [78]–[80]. Kinases and phosphatases delicately balance this cascade, with tyrosine phosphorylation activating and serine/threonine phosphorylation inactivating insulin receptor and IRS proteins [81]. Also, factors like free fatty acids, oxidative stress, inflammatory cytokines and altered adipokine function contribute to these influences, hindering IRS signalling [82]–[84].

IR consistently associates with obesity and related complications, including type 2 diabetes

mellitus, cardiovascular disease, certain cancer types, infertility, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, and cognitive impairment [49], [85], [86]. While surgical and pharmacological strategies have shown utility, energy-reduced diets, as part of a healthy lifestyle, almost invariably facilitate weight loss and reduce IR in these patients.

In the final chapter of this thesis, I described the studies aimed to design and develop an *in vitro* model of human insulin resistance applicable for further studies of the beneficial effects of S. spinosum and other bioactive compounds. To achieve this, we utilized HepG2 cells sourced from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). These cells were subjected to varying concentrations of insulin over different time frames or exposed to a fatty acids' mixture over different time frames. Our findings demonstrate that insulin resistance in HepG2 can be induced by both elevated insulin levels (hyperinsulinemia) and the accumulation of lipids.

#### **1.6.** Cellular models

Three distinct cell lines were utilized in my studies presented throughout this project.

#### **1.6.1.** Cellular model of hepatic steatosis

FaO cells, a rat hepatoma cell line, chosen to replicate and mimic the onset and progression of NAFLD. These FaO rat hepatoma cells, obtained from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECCC-Sigma-Aldrich Corp.), express a diverse range of liver-specific mRNAs. They possess the capability to assemble and secrete very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) and respond to stimuli activating transcription factors like PPARs [87]. Consequently, this cell line serves as a well-established and widely employed cellular system, maintaining key features of rat hepatocytes.

In our experimental setup, FaO cells at 70-80% confluence underwent 3 h incubation in a high glucose starvation medium, F12 Coon's modified medium supplemented with 0.25% BSA and with mixture of oleate and palmitate (0.75 mM with molar ratio 2:1). It is noteworthy that the

basal lipid content of FaO cells is considerably lower than that of primary hepatocytes. As a result, the fatty acids treatments led to a more rapid and pronounced accumulation of triglycerides compared to primary cultured hepatocytes. The exposure to oleate and palmitate mixture resulted in a significant increase in both the number and size of cytosolic lipid droplets. These observations establish lipid-loaded FaO cells as a reliable and convenient *in vitro* model for studying NAFLD [88].

#### **1.6.2.** Cellular model of endothelial dysfunction

HECV cells, a human endothelial vascular cell line, were utilized to emulate human endothelium dysfunction. The human endothelial cell line (HECV) was sourced from the Cell Bank and Culture (GMP-IST- Genoa, Italy) and derived from the human umbilical vein, preserving a substantial degree of endothelial function.

Widely employed for in vitro studies, these cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium high glucose (D-MEM) supplemented with L-glutamine and 10% FBS. To simulate and mimic endothelial dysfunctional, at 70-80% confluency HECV cells were incubated with 30  $\mu$ M H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> for 24 h. As a result, hydrogen peroxide exposure led to a more rapid and pronounced ROS production, lipid peroxidation and decreased NO availability. These observations establish H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-exposed HECV cells as a reliable and convenient *in vitro* model for studying endothelial dysfunction.

#### **1.6.3.** Cellular model of insulin resistance

HepG2 cells are a human hepatoma cell line obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). HepG2 cells are maintained in EMEM supplemented with L-glutamine and 10% FBS.

In our experimental model of insulin resistance, HepG2 cells at 70-80% confluence underwent 6 h incubation in a low glucose DMEM supplemented with 0.4% FBS. After that cells were

incubated with high glucose DMEM supplemented with 0.4% FBS and 10 nM insulin for 48 h.

## 2. Chapter two: Aims of the study

The experimental study that I carried on during the three years of my PhD project was mainly focused on investigating the effects of *Sarcopoterium spinosum*, a significant component in Lebanese traditional medicine, particularly for managing diabetes and alleviating pain. While the roots of this shrub have been extensively studied, the fruits have been poorly investigated. Initially, our research aimed to conduct a comprehensive chemical characterization of three distinct extracts from *S. spinosum* fruits. This involved evaluating their total polyphenol and flavonoid content, alongside assessing their *in vitro* radical scavenging ability. This initial phase aimed to identify the most potent extract among the three, setting the stage for further investigation into their biological effects.

Following the chemical characterization, our study delved into the characterization of the phytochemical profile of the selected extract, aiming to identify and quantify its bioactive compounds. Understanding the specific compounds present in this extract is crucial to unravelling the mechanisms behind its potential therapeutic properties.

Subsequently, our investigation extended to exploring the biological effects of the selected extract using cellular models relevant to metabolic disorders such as hepatic steatosis, dysfunctional endothelium, and insulin resistance. By employing these cellular models, we aimed to elucidate how the extract from *S. spinosum* fruits might impact these dysfunctions at a cellular level, providing insights into its potential therapeutic applications.

This sequential approach, from chemical characterization to exploring biological effects on specific cellular models, was designed to comprehensively evaluate the therapeutic potential of *S. spinosum* fruit extracts. This research is particularly relevant and timely, considering the escalating global prevalence of the metabolic disorders, which have become a growing concern. Hepatic steatosis, dysfunctional endothelium, and insulin resistance are on the rise globally,

contributing significantly to the burden of chronic diseases. Therefore, understanding the potential of *S. spinosum* fruit extracts in mitigating these conditions could have far-reaching implications for public health, offering a novel and natural approach to addressing health challenges that have become increasingly prevalent on a global scale.

Furthermore, the identification and characterization of bioactive compounds in *S. spinosum* fruit extracts pave the way for the potential development of these extracts and their main components as valuable candidates for nutraceutical formulations. The findings from this investigation may contribute to the growing body of evidence supporting the utilization of *S. spinosum* derived compounds in nutraceutical products, providing a natural and plant-based alternative for managing prevalent health conditions and promoting overall well-being.

3. Chapter Three: Polyphenol-enriched extracts of Sarcopoterium spinosum fruits for counteracting lipid accumulation and oxidative stress in an in vitro model of hepatic steatosis.



Figure 3-1 Chapter three graphical abstract

# Polyphenol-enriched extracts of *Sarcopoterium spinosum* fruits for counteracting lipid accumulation and oxidative stress in an *in vitro* model of hepatic steatosis

Hawraa Zbeeb<sup>1</sup>, Hala Khalifeh<sup>2</sup>, Giulio Lupidi<sup>3</sup>, Francesca Baldini<sup>4</sup>, Lama Zeaiter<sup>1,4</sup>, Mohamad Khalil <sup>5</sup>, Annalisa Salis<sup>6</sup>, Gianluca Damonte<sup>6</sup> and Laura Vergani<sup>\*1</sup>

- 1. Department of Earth, Environment and Life Sciences (DISTAV), University of Genova, 16132 Genova, Italy.
- 2. Department of Biology, Laboratory Rammal Rammal (ATAC), Lebanese University, Hadath Campus, Beirut, Lebanon.
- 3. School of Pharmacy, University of Camerino, 62032 Camerino, Italy.
- 4. Nanoscopy and NIC@IIT, Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia (IIT), 16152 Genova, Italy
- 5. Department of Biomedical Sciences and Human Oncology, University of Bari Aldo Moro, 70124 Bari, Italy.
- 6. Department of Experimental Medicine (DIMES), University of Genova, Viale Benedetto XV 1, 16132, Genova, Italy

The following paper was published online in Fitoterapia on 10 November 2023,

DIO: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fitote.2023.105743

#### Abstract

Sarcopoterium spinosum (L.) Spach is a Rosaceae shrub employed in the folk medicine in the Eastern Mediterranean basin. The previous few studies have focused on the *S. spinosum* roots, while the fruits have been poorly investigated. The present study aims to assess the biological properties of *S. spinosum* fruits collected in Lebanon and subjected to ethanolic, water or boiling water extraction. The extracts were compared for the phenol and flavonoid contents, and for the *in vitro* radical scavenging ability. The ethanolic extract (SEE) was selected and characterized by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS/MS) showing a phenolome rich in tannins (ellagitannins), flavonoids (quercetin derivatives), and triterpenes. The biological activity of SEE was tested on a cellular model of moderate steatosis consisting of lipid-loaded hepatic cells treated with increasing concentrations of SEE (1-25  $\mu$ g/mL), or with corilagin or quercetin as comparison. In steatotic hepatocytes the SEE was able (i) to ameliorate the hepatosteatosis; (*ii*) to counteract the excess ROS and lipid peroxidation; (*iiii*) to restore the impaired catalase activity. The results indicate that the ethanolic extract from *S. spinosum* fruits is endowed with relevant antisteatotic and antioxidant activities and might find application as nutraceutical product.

#### Key Words:

*Sarcopoterium spinosum* fruit extracts; corilagin; phenolome profile; anti-steatotic activity; antioxidant acitvity.

#### **3.1. Introduction**

Medicinal plants are a source of bioactive compounds and are largely investigated for functional food applications. Moreover, their study may help to direct and optimize the identification of new drugs or nutraceuticals [89]. The phenolic compounds (PCs) are phytochemicals characterized by the presence of phenolic rings and they are found in most edible plants. Although they are not classified as nutrients, their dietary intake provides health-protective effects. PCs are classified into phenolic acids, flavonoids, anthocyanins, and tannins [90] that are largely studied for their efficacy in preventing many diseases, including diabetes, obesity and cancer [91]. The interest for plant PCs depend on their wide availability, variety, and negligible side effects [92].

Lebanon notably boasts one of the highest densities of floral diversity in the Mediterranean basin as it includes various climates allowing the growth of many endemic valuable medicinal plants [15]. Rosaceae is one of the most important plant families worldwide, with more than 3,000 members [20] which includes many plant fruits, such as apples, strawberries and almonds. *Sarcopoterium spinosum* (L.) Spach is an Eastern Mediterranean shrub being mentioned as a medicinal plant in a large number of ethnobotanical surveys [23]. Most studies on *S. spinosum* have been performed on the roots which are described to play anti-inflammatory [35], antidiabetic [33], and insulin-sensitizing [34] activities. However, in Lebanon, the folk medicine preferentially uses *S. spinosum* fruits for treating diabetes and for weight loss [15], also because fruits are extremely rich in phenolic compounds. This is the reason of our study on the extracts from *S. spinosum* fruits.

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) has emerged as a leading cause of chronic liver disease worldwide, with an estimated global prevalence of 25% in the adult population [93]. NAFLD describes hepatic fat deposition as part of the metabolic syndrome. NAFLD spectrum ranges from simple hepatic steatosis which may progress to non-alcoholic steatohepatitis with inflammation and hepatocellular ballooning, up to liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular

carcinoma [93]. Obesity, type 2 diabetes and dyslipidemia are leading risk factors for NAFLD [94]. To date, no effective pharmacological treatment is available for NAFLD, and the most effective approach is the weight loss through a balanced diet and appropriate physical activity. Therefore, the use of natural compounds for treating NAFLD and other metabolic disorders is currently gaining interest [95].

In the present study, we explored the alleged beneficial properties of the *S. spinosum* fruits from South Lebanon plants in terms of antisteatotic and antioxidant effects. After a preliminary characterization of three different extracts, we focused on the ethanolic extract to assess the phenolome, the lipid-lowering, antioxidant and cytoprotective activities using a cellular model of hepatic steatosis. The effects of the *S. spinosum* ethanolic extract were compared to those of corilagin (Cg) and quercetin (Qu) representing the most abundant and more promising PCs in the extract. Our findings seem to indicate that the ethanol extract showing significant *in vitro* antisteatotic and antioxidant effects could find nutraceutical applications for treatment of moderate hepatic steatosis.

#### **3.2.** Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1. Chemicals

Reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Italy) unless otherwise specified.

#### 3.2.2. Plant materials and extract preparation

*Sarcopoterium spinosum* (L.) Spach fruits (Figure 3-2) were collected from the wild in the Haddatha in South Lebanon, (Latitude: 33° 09' 60.00" N, Longitude: 35° 22' 59.99"), during the August 2020. They were identified by Prof. George Tohme, a taxonomist president of Lebanese CNRS, and classified according to his book (Illustrated Flora of Lebanon, 2014) based on morphological and binocular analyses. A voucher specimen (R5.36) was deposited in the Lebanon National Herbarium at the Lebanese University, Faculty of Sciences. The fruits
were dried at room temperature in the shade for three weeks. Then, 50 g of ground material were extracted with 1 L of ethanol (99%) for 3 hours with agitation at room temperature. After ethanol evaporation at 42°C in a rotary evaporator (Heidolph Instruments, Schwabach, Germany) we collected the dried pellet representing the SEE. Two different aqueous extracts were prepared by incubating 50 g of ground materials with either 1 L of distilled water at room temperature for 3 h with agitation (SWE) or with 1 L of distilled boiling water (100°C) for 3 h with agitation (SBWE). Then, SWE and SBWE separetly were freeze-dried in an Alpha 1-4 LD plus lyophilizer (CHRIST, Osterode am Harz, Germany) to obtain the water-soluble extracts.

## **3.2.3.** *Phytochemical profiling of the extracts*

Total phenol content (TPC) was quantified according to Folin–Ciocalteu method [96]. Briefly, 100  $\mu$ l of sample (1 mg/mL) were mixed with 0.5 mL of 10% Folin–Ciocalteu reagent and incubated in the dark for 5 min. After addition of 1.4 mL of 10% Na2CO3, the samples were incubated for 30 min at room temperature. Absorbance ( $\lambda_{760}$ ) was read with a UV-VIS spectrophotometer (Model U-2900, Hitachi High Technologies, Japan) against a blank. Gallic acid (0–100  $\mu$ g/mL) was used as reference and results were expressed in mg Gallic Acid Equivalents (GAE) per gram dry extract.

Total flovonoid content (TFC) was quantified according to a standard method [97]. Briefly, 0.3 mL of sample (1 mg/mL) were mixed with 1.2 mL distilled water and 90  $\mu$ L 5% NaNO<sub>2</sub>. After incubation for 5 min in the dark at room temperature, 90  $\mu$ L of 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub> were added. Then, 0.6 mL NaOH (1M) and 0.72 mL distilled water were added and after 25 min the absorbance ( $\lambda_{510}$ ) was read with a UV-VIS spectrophotometer against a blank. Quercetin dissolved in ethanol (5–100  $\mu$ g/mL) was used as reference and results were expressed as mg Quercetin equivalent (QE) per g dry extract.

## 3.2.4. Protein Quantification

The protein content of each sample was quantified by Bradford assay using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard [98].

## 3.2.5. Antioxidant activity determination

The ABTS assay was performed according to R. Re [99]. Briefly, 200  $\mu$ L of ABTS solution were added to 50  $\mu$ L of sample (1–5000  $\mu$ g/mL) and incubated at room temperature for 20 min in the dark. Absorbance ( $\lambda_{734}$ ) was read against equal amount of ABTS solution using a UV-VIS spectrophotometer microplate reader (Model FLUOstar Optima, BMG Labtech). Trolox was used as a reference and reults were estimated as Trolox equivalent antioxidant activity (TEAC) ( $\mu$ g TE/mg dry extract).

The DPPH assay was performed according to W. Brand-Williams [100]. Briefly, 50  $\mu$ L aliquot of sample (0–2 mg/mL) was mixed to 200  $\mu$ L of DPPH solution (0.1 mM in methanol). After incubation in darkness for 30 min at room temperature, the absorbance ( $\lambda_{490}$ ) was measured using a UV–VIS microplate reader against DPPH solution as a blank. Trolox was used as a reference and results were expressed as TEAC ( $\mu$ g TE/mg dry extract).

The FRAP assay was performed according to I.F.F. Benzie [101]. Briefly, 25  $\mu$ L of the sample (0–2 mg/mL) were mixed with 175  $\mu$ L of FRAP working solution (300 mM acetate buffer (pH 3.6), 20 mM ferric chloride) and 10 mM TPTZ (2,4,6- tri (2-pyridyl)—S-triazine) made up in 40 mM HCl. The three solutions were mixed (10:1:1 ratio, v:v:v). The mixture was incubated at 37°C in the dark for 30 min and then the absorbance ( $\lambda_{593}$ ) was read using a UV–VIS microplate reader against FRAP solution as a blank. Trolox was used as reference and results were expressed as TEAC ( $\mu$ g TE/mg dry extract).

## 3.2.6. HPLC-MS/MS analysis

The ethanolic exctract was analysed by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS and MS/MS) using an Agilent 1100 HPLC-MSD Ion Trap XCT

system, equipped with an electrospray ion source (HPLC-ESI-MS) (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA). For HPLC-MS/MS analyses the ethanol extract was analysed both as crude extract and after fractionation to improve the compound identification according to P. F. P. dos Santos [102]. Briefly, 1.7g of the SEE was re-suspended in 200 mL water:methanol mixture (H<sub>2</sub>O-MeOH, 8:2, v/v) and partitioned with 100 mL of hexane to obtain the free hexane-soluble extract (fSEE). The remained H2O-MeOH solution was dried in rotary evaporator. The component separation of the SEE and fSEE was performed on a Jupiter C18 column 1 mm  $\times$  150 mm with 3.5 µm particle size (Phenomenex, USA). For eluents: water (eluent A) and MeOH (eluent B) were used, both added with 0.1% formic acid. The gradient applied was: 15% eluent B for 5 min, linear to 100% eluent B in 35 min, and finally, hold at 100% eluent B for another 5 min. The flow rate was set to 50 µL/min with a column temperature of 30°C. The injection volume was 8 µL. Ions were detected in the positive and negative ion mode, in the 100–1000m/z range, and ion charged control with a target ion value of 100,000 and an accumulation time of 300 ms. A capillary voltage of 3800 V, nebulizer pressure of 20 psi, drying gas of 8 L/min, dry temperature of 360°C, and 3 rolling averages (averages: 5) were the parameters set for the MS detection. MS/MS analysis was conducted using an amplitude optimized time by time for each compound. Once the total ion current was obtained, the m/z signals with a significant signal-to-noise ratio (5:1) were extracted. Both full-scan and tandem spectra were acquired.

## **3.2.7.** *Cell culture and treatments*

Rat hepatoma FaO cells (European Collection of Authenticated Cell Cultures-ECACC, Salisbury, UK) were cultured in Coon's modified Ham's F12 medium with low glucose (1.8 g/L), supplemented with 2 mM Glutamine and 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (Euroclone, Italy) at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Stock solutions of SEE, corilagin (Cg) (MedChemExpress, USA) and quercetin (Qu) were prepared in DMSO with final concentration of 5 mg/mL. For treatments, cells were plated in cell culture dishes and grown for 24 h in high-

glucose (4.5 g/L) medium with 0.25% BSA until reaching 80% confluence. Then, cells were exposed for 3 h to a mixture of oleate/ palmitate at a final concentration of 0.75 mM (2:1 molar ratio) in order to mimic *in vitro* the effect of high-fat diet [88]. After exposure to oleate/palmitate mix, medium was changed and the steatotic cells were incubated for 24 h with the extract at different concentrations (1, 10, and 25  $\mu$ g/mL). For comparison, steatotic cells were treated with either 10  $\mu$ g/mL corilagin (16  $\mu$ M) or 10  $\mu$ g/mL quercetin (33  $\mu$ M). Each experiment was performed at least in quadruplicate. The results represent the average of at least four independent experiments in triplicate. The potential cytotoxicity of the extracts, was evaluated by the 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) reduction test [103].

# 3.2.8. Quantification of the intracellular triglyceride content

At the end of each treatment, cells were scraped and lysed by passing cell suspension through a 25 gauge needle. Lipids were extracted using the chloroform/methanol method [104]. The TG content was quantified by adding 500  $\mu$ L of Triglycerides liquid kit reagent (Sentinel Diagnostics, Italy) for 15 min at 37°C. Absorbance ( $\lambda_{546}$ ) was read with a UV-VIS spectrophotometer against a blank. Glycerol (0.007–0.2  $\mu$ g/mL) was used as reference. The TG content was normalized to protein content and expressed as percent TG content relative to control.

## **3.2.9.** Optical Microscopy and morphometric analyses

Cells grown on coverslips were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and visualized both with absorption and fluorescence microscopy [105]. For absorption microscopy, Oil-RedO (ORO) staining was employed, and cells were stained with 0.3% ORO solution. Images are acquired by Leica DMRB light microscope equipped with a Leica CCD camera DFC420C (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany). For fluorescence microscopy, LDs were stained with 1  $\mu$ g/mL BODIPY 493/503 (Molecular Probes, Life Technologies, Italy), and DNA with 2  $\mu$ g/mL Hoechst 33342 (Thermofiher Scientific, Italy). Images were acquired at 100X magnification by A1R Nikon

inverted CONFOCAL microscope. All images were processed by using ImageJ software for quantification of lipid droplet size and number [106].

## 3.2.10. Quantification of ROS production

The production of ROS was quantified *in situ* using the oxidation of the cell-permeant 2'-7'dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCF-DA, Fluka, Germany) to 2'-7'dichlorofluorescein (DCF) [107]. Cells were grown in plates, scarped and collected by centrifugation. Then, cells were loaded with 1  $\mu$ M DCF-DA in PBS prepared from stock 10 mM stock prepared in DMSO for 30 min at 37°C in the dark. Then, cells were centrifuged and resuspended in 2 mL PBS. The fluorescence was read with a LS50B fluorimeter (Perkin Elmer, USA) at 25°C using a waterthermostated cuvette holder ( $\Box$ ex=495 nm;  $\Box$ em=525 nm). Results were normalized to protein content and expressed as percent flourescence intensity relative to control. The results represent the average of at least three independent experiments in triplicate.

## 3.2.11. Determination of lipid peroxidation

Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay allowed spectrophotometrically to determine lipid peroxidation which is based on the reaction of malondialdehyde (MDA; 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane) with thiobarbituric acid (TBA)[108]. Briefly, 250  $\mu$ L of cell suspension was incubated for 45 min at 95 °C with 500  $\mu$ L of TBA solution (0.375% TBA, 15% trichloroacetic acid, 0.25 N HCl). Then, 750  $\mu$ L of N-butanol was added , centrifuged and the absorbance of the organic phase (upper phase)was measured at 532 nm in a UV-VIS spectrophotometer. Results were normalized to protein content and expressed as percent MDA levels relative to control

## 3.2.12. Determination of catalase activity

Catalase (CAT, EC 1.11.16) activity was evaluated in the  $12000 \times g$  supernatant of cell lysates following the consumption of hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) at 25°C [109]. Briefly, 10 µL of the supernatant was added to 487 µL of phosphate buffer (50mM K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 50mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, PH 7).

Instantly after 3  $\mu$ L of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (30%) was added to the sample the acquistion started for 3 min (acquisition was recorded every 15 seconds). The absorbance was read at 240nm with a UV-VIS spectrophotometer at 25 °C using a Peltier-thermostated cuvette holder. Enzyme activity was calculated as µmoles of decomposed H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> per min/mg protein, presented as percentage values to controls and normalized for total proteins.

#### 3.2.13. Statistical analysis

Data are means  $\pm$  S.D. of at least three independent experiments. The differences among the groups were compared using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post-test (version 8.0, GraphPad Software, Inc., USA).

## 3.3. Results

## 3.3.1 Chemical characterization of three different S. spinosum extracts

*S. spinosum* fruits collected in South Lebanon (Figure 3-2) to prepare the ethanol (SEE), water (SWE) and boiling water (SBWE) extracts. The three extracts were characterized for their phenol and flavonoid contents, and the radical scavenging activity. The extracts showed similar total phenol content (TPC) and total flavonoid content (TFC). In details, TPC ranged from 147.85 to 162.22 mgGAE/g dry extract, and TFC from 38.81 to 45.39 mgQE/g dry extract (Table 3-1).



Figure 3- 2 Characteristics and distibution of Sarcopterium spinosum shrubS. spinosum plant in its natural environment: the shrub (A); the fruits (B); the region of the fruit collection:Haddatha, South Lebanon (C).

The *in vitro* radical scavenging potential was tested using three different assays (Table 3-1). The ABTS assay gave the highest radical scavenging activity for SEE, with a TEAC (654.2  $\mu$ g TE/mg) higher than SWE (420.94  $\mu$ g TE/mg) and SBWE (373.80  $\mu$ g TE/mg). Moreover, the radical scavenging activity of SEE was further assessed by the DPPH assay (549.5  $\mu$ g TE/mg), the standard assay for hydrophobic compounds, whereas the radical scavenging activity of the aqueous extracts SWE and SBWE were assessed by the FRAP assay, which is appreciated for its rapid performance and high accuracy and showed similar activities for the two extracts (312.3±20 *vs* 312.0±12  $\mu$ g TE/mg, respectively). Based on these results we selected the ethanolic extract for further investigations.

c ·	TPC	TFC	ABTS	DPPH	FRAP
5. spinosum fruit extract	mgGAE/gr	mg QE/g	μg TEAC/mg	μg TEAC/mg	μg TEAC/mg
Water	158.44	45.39	420.94	-	312.3
(SWE)	(±33.1)	(±5.85)	(±37)		(±20)
Boiling Water	162.22	41.33	373.80	-	312.0
(SBWE)	(±29.3)	(±4.24)	(±25)		(±12)
Ethanol	147.85	38.81	654.2	549.5	-
(SEE)	(±36.7)	(±2.98)	(±65)	(±31)	

#### Table 3-1 Phytochemical content and antioxidant ability of S. spinosum fruit extracts

Three extracts were prepared using different extraction solvents: water (SWE), boiling water (SBWE) and ethanol (SEE). Total phenolic content (TPC), total flavonoid content (TFC) radical scavenging ability (ABTS and DPPH) and ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) were reported. ABTS, DPPH and FRAP were expressed as Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity TEAC ( $\mu$ g TE/mg dry extract). Values are the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (S.D.) from at least three independent experiments in triplicate (n = 3).

#### 3.3.2 HPLC-MS/MS analysis of the ethanolic S. spinosum extract

The phenolome of SEE was analyzed by HPLC-MS/MS in negative ionization mode. Fruits are rich in carbohydrates and fats that may form insoluble complexes with the PCs thus interfering with HPLC detection. Therefore, we preliminarily treated the crude extract by water/methanol mixture and hexane fractionation to eliminate most of the apolar molecules. By HPLC-MS/MS analysis we detected 24 peaks (Figure 3-3A). By comparison with isolated standards and data in literature, at now, we could identify 17 major compounds (Table 3-2). Ellagitannins was the most abundant group of PCs in SEE (approximately 50.8% of the total extract). The ellagitannins identified in SEE were the following: the casuarictin isomer, the corilagin, the pedunculagin and the castalagin/vescalagin. A second abundant group of PCs was that of flavonoids, with the quercetin glucuronide and the quercetin-diglucoside being the main ones (about 7.5% of the total extract). Also triterpenes were present in high quantity in the SEE (about 11.9%). The main triterpenes identified were the tormentic acid its derivatives: 23-

hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]-, oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]-, gallic acid ester triterpenoid glycoside, oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]- isomer, di-oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO], oxidized tormentic derivative, 23-hydroxytormentic acid. We wish to note that seven peaks could not be identified yet, due to lack of similarities for negative ionization segments and retention time in literature libraries.



#### Figure 3- 3 HPLC-MS/MS analysis and cytotoxicity of the S. spinosum ethanolic extract

The HPLC chromotograms (A) of the ethanolic extract of *S. spinosum* fruits recorded at two wavelengths (220 nm and 280 nm).

The identified peaks: 3= Corilagin; 4= Pedunculagin; 6= Castalagin/Vescalagin; 8= Casuarictin isomer; 9= Casuarictin isomer; 11= Quercetin derivative/Quercetin -diglucoside; 12= Quercetin glucuronide; 15= 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]-; 16= oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]-; 17= Gallic acid ester triterpenoid glycoside; 18= oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]- isomer; 19= Di-oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]- isomer; 19= Di-oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]-; 20= Tormentic acid derivative; 21= oxidized tormentic acid derivative; 22= 23-hydroxytormentic acid; 23= Tormentic acid; 24= oxidized tormentic acid. (B) cell viability after 24 h incubation of FaO cells with SEE different concentrations, Cg and Qu. Data are the mean  $\pm$  S.D. of three independent experiments.

#	RT (min)	[M-H]-	MS/MS fragments	Tentatively identified compound	Class
1	5.6	633.1	301/463	Corilagin	Ellagitannins
2	7.5	783.2	633/301	Pedunculagin	Ellagitannins
3	12.2	935	633/301	Castalagin/Vescalagin	Ellagitannins
4	13.5	935	633/301/897	Casuarictin isomer	Ellagitannins
5	15.4	935	633/301/897/783	Casuarictin isomer	Ellagitannins
6	15.8	625.3	301	Quercetin derivative/Quercetin -di-glucoside	Flavonoids
7	17.9	477.1	301	Quercetin glucuronide	Flavonoids
8	21.4	711.3	503/665	23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO] <sup>-</sup>	Triterpenoids
9	21.8	709.3	501/663	Oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO] <sup>-</sup>	Triterpenoids
10	22.4	817.4	655/697	Gallic acid ester triterpenoid glycoside	Triterpenoids
11	22.6	709.3	501/663	Oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO] <sup>-</sup> isomer	Triterpenoids
12	22.8	707.3	499/661	Di-oxidized 23-hydroxytormentic acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO] <sup>-</sup>	Triterpenoids
13	24.6	695.3	487/647	Tormentic acid derivative	Triterpenoids
14	25.0	693.3	485/645	Oxidized Tormentic acid derivative	Triterpenoids
15	25.6	503.2	485/471/453/441	23-hydroxytormentic acid	Triterpenoids
16	28.4	487.3	468/425/443/407	Tormentic acid Triterpenoi	
17	28.8	485.3	466/423/441/405	Oxidized tormentic acid	Triterpenoids

Table 3- 2 Major components identified in S. spinosum fruit ethanol extract by using HPLC-MS/MS in the negative ionization mode.

# 3.3.3 The ethanolic S. spinosum extract counteracts lipid accumulation in hepatocytes

The biological effects of SEE were assessed on lipid-loaded FaO cells representing a reliable *in vitro* model for hepatic steatosis. First, by MTT assay we excluded any significant

cytotoxicity of SEE at all the tested concentrations (1, 10, 25  $\mu$ g/mL) (Figure 3-3B). Then, the intracellular TG accumulation was quantified spectrophotometrically showing an increase (+158%, p≤0.0001) in the steatotic FaO cells (OP) compared to controls. The incubation of the steatotic cells with SEE for 24 hr resulted in a significant decrease in the TG content at all the concentrations with maximal efficacy at the intermediate concentration (SEE 10  $\mu$ g/mL) (-139% vs OP (p≤0.0001) (Figure 3-4A).

For a deeper analysis, the morphometry of the cytosolic lipid droplets (LDs) was assessed using both absorption microscopy after ORO staining (Figure 3-4B), and fluorescence microscopy after BODIPY 493/503 staining (Figure 3-4C). While few and small LDs were detected in the control heaptocytes (about 9 LDs/cell, and 1.45  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> average area), in the steatotic haptocytes (OP) we observed a significant (p≤0.0001) increase in both the number (18 LDs/cell) and the average size (3.22  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>, +83.48% vs control) of LDs (Figure 3-4D and Figure 3-4E,respectively). The exposure of the steatotic cells to SEE led to a slight reduction in the LD number, but a large reduction in the LD size. The maximal effect was observed at the intermediate concentration of SEE (10  $\mu$ g/mL) which reduced both the LD number (to about 15 LDs/cell) and the average size to 1.98  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> (-85.57%; p≤0.0001) compared to OP.



Figure 3- 4 Antisteatotic activity of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract

FaO cells were incubated in the absence (Ctrl) or the presence of oleate/palmitate (OP); then the OP cells were treated with different concentrations of *S. spinosum* ethanolic extract for 24 hr. (A) The TG content expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for protein content. Representative images of FaO cells (B) after ORO staining and acquisition by Leica DMRB light microscope, and (C) after Hoechst/BODIPY 493/503 staining and acquisition by A1R Nikon inverted CONFOCAL microscope. Magnification 100X. ImageJ software was used for the image analysis to detect: (D) the number of LDs/cell and (E) the average size of LDs. Values are mean  $\pm$  S.D. from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance between groups was assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's test. Symbols: Ctrl vs OP cells \*\*\*\*p≤0.0001; OP vs all treatments #p≤ 0.05, ###p≤0.001, #### p≤0.0001.

## 3.3.4 The ethanolic S. spinosum extract ameliorates oxidative stress in hepatocytes

The ectopic TG accumulation in hepatocytes typically leads to excess ROS production that, in part, is counteracted by antioxidant enzymes, such as catalase, and in part triggers lipid peroxidation reactions leading to oxidative stress [110]. We quantified the intracellular ROS production, mainly hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), by *in situ* fluorometric analysis of DCF-stained cells (Figure 3-5A). The DCF signal increased in steatotic hepatocytes (OP) compared to control (+31%; p≤0.05), and it was reduced after treatment with all the concentrations of SEE. The maximal efficacy was observed at the intermediate concentration (SEE 10 µg/mL) leading to a reduction of -48% vs OP (p≤0.001).

Regarding the antioxidant enzymes, we observed an impairment in the catalase activity in steatotic hepatocytes (OP) compared to control (-28.05%; p≤0.0001) (Figure 3-5B). The catalase activity showed a recovery after treatment with the SEE both at the lower and intermediate concentrations (+26.26% and +22.65% vs OP, respectively; p≤0.001 and p≤ 0.01). Then we assess the lipid peroxidation processes being triggered by the excess ROS. We quantified the MDA level by the TBARS assay (Figure 3-5C) and we observed an increase in steatotic hepatocytes (OP) compared to control (+98%; p≤0.0001), and a significant decrease upon exposure to all the SEE concentrations. Also in this case the maximal efficacy was at the intermediate concentration (10 µg/mL) leading to MDA reduction of -121% compared to OP (p≤0.0001).



Figure 3- 5 Antioxidant activity of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract

FaO cells were treated as described above. (A) The intracellular ROS level was quantified by spectrofluorometric assay on DCF-stained cells and expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for total proteins. (B) The catalase activity was evaluated by spectrophotometric assay and expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for total proteins. (C) The intracellular level of MDA (pmol MDA/mL×mg of sample protein) was quantified by TBARS assay and expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for total proteins. ANOVA followed by Turkey's test was used to assess the statistical significance between groups. Symbols: Control vs OP, \*p $\leq$ 0.05, \*\*\*\*p $\leq$ 0.0001; OP vs all treatments, ##p $\leq$ 0.001, #### p $\leq$ 0.0001.

## 3.3.5 Biological activity of the single agents corilagin and quercetin

HPLC-MS/MS analysis showed that SEE is extremely rich in Cg and Qu, an ellegitannin and a flavonoid, respectively (Figure 3-6). Therefore, we assessed the antisteatotic and antioxidant effects of these two PCs as single agents as comparison with the SEE. Also in this case any cytotoxicity of the compounds at the tested concentration was excluded by MTT assay (Figure

3-3). We selected the concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/mL for the single agents because it resulted the most effective for all the studies on SEE.

When steatotic hepatocytes were incubated for 24 hr with either Cg or Qu (10  $\mu$ g/mL) we observed a significant decrease in the intracellular TG content for both compounds, but the effect was larger for Cg (-103.19%; p≤0.01) than for Qu (-67.91%; p≤0.05) (Figure 3-6A) A significant reduction in both the number (Figure 3-6C) and the size (Figure 3-6D) of LDs was observed in ORO stained cells (Figure 3-6B), confirming that Cg was more effective than Qu also in reducing the LD number (fom 9 to about 7 LDs/cell) and the LD size (form 0.7  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> to 0.48  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) with respect to OP.

The oxidative stress was quantified by DCF staining (Figure 3-6E), and the TBARS assay (Figure 3-6F). The DCF fluorescence intensity was reduced after treatment with both compounds, and the maximal efficacy was observed for Qu that led to a reduction of -31% compared to OP ( $p \le 0.0001$ ). Aso the MDA level was significantly reduced by both compounds, but in this case the maximal efficacy was observed for Cg leading to a reduction of -143% compared to OP ( $p \le 0.001$ ).



#### Figure 3- 6 Antisteatotic and antioxidant activity of Corilagin and Quercetin

In the inset, the chemical formula of (a) corilagin and (b) quercitin (National Center for Biotechnology Information (2023). <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u>). The FaO cells treated as described above were analysed for the bioligcal activity. (A) The TG content was quantified by spectrophotometric assay. (B) Representative images of ORO stained cells were captured by Leica DMRB light microscope and analyzed by ImageJ software to detect: (D) the number of LDs/cell and (E) the average size of LDs. (F) The ROS level was quantified by spectrofluorometric assay on DCF-stained cells. (G) The intracellular level of MDA (pmol MDA/mL×mg of sample protein) was quantified by TBARS assay. Values are mean  $\pm$  S.D. from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance between groups was assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's test. Symbols: Ctrl vs OP cells \*\*\*p≤0.001, \*\*\*\*p≤0.0001; OP vs all treatments #p≤0.05, ##p≤0.01, ###p≤0.001, #### p≤0.001.

#### 3.4. Discussion

The present study reports the first characterization of the phenolome of an ethanolic extract from *S. spinosum* fruits, whereas the previous studies focused on the roots. Moroever, our findings showed for the first time the direct biological effect of *S. spinosum* fruits on hepatic cells, focusing on the lipid lowering and antioxidant activity.

In the Beduin traditional medicine, *S. spinosum* shrub is employed as antidiabetic [111] and anti-inflammatory [35] agent. The few scientific publications on *S. spinosum* focused almost exclusively on roots, which seemed to improve the insulin sensitivity and type 2 diabetes, prevented the development of hepatic steatosis in mouse models [32]–[34]. By contrast, the beneficial potential of fruits has not been elucidated yet, although edible fruits are among the best sources of dietary polyphenols [112]. At now, there is only one paper comparing the effects of fruits, leaves and roots of *S. spinosum* in adipocytes [37]. We wish to emhaisize that Lebanese people employ *S. spinosum* fruits more than roots for sustainibility reason, because leaves and stems were typically used for fire and cooking in the old times, and also because the preservation of the roots ensures the regrowth of the plant.

Typically fruits may be consumed after processing into functional products, including extracts, in order to increase the polyphenol content and improve the biological effects. Our study

investigated *S. spinosum* fruits collected in South Lebanon and subjected to solvent extraction using either ethanol or water, at both room and boiling temperature, to mimic the traditional way of use. We did not observe significant differences among the extracts for their phenolic and flavonoid content, but the ethanolic extract showed the highest radical scavenging ability *in vitro*. Although usually the phenolic content of an extract directly correlates with the radical scavenging potential [113], our findings showed the best radical scavenger activity for the ethanolic extract without a significantly higher phenolic content. This can depend on the different pool of polyphenols contained in the different extracts, and on the level and type of their hydroxylation [114].

Once selected the S. spinosum ethanolic extract for further investigations, we characterized its phytochemical profile by HPLC-MS/MS. This represents the first characterization of the phenolome of S. spinosum fruits. The extract results extremely rich in polyphenols, and the most abundant group are the ellagitannins. Ellagitannins are the hydrolyzable subgroup of tannins that are known for their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities [115]. In our extract, the main ellagitannins identified are the following: corilagin known for its antidiabetic, antihyperlipidemic and antioxidant properties [116], casuaricitin being endowed with antioxidant and antiviral potential [117], pedunculagin with anti-inflammatory effects [118], and castalagin/vescalagin with antibacterial activity [119]. Also an appreciable quantity of flavonoids was detected in SEE, in particular two quercetin derivatives which were previously detected in S. spinosum [23]. Of note, the quercetin is well known for its lipid lowering and antioxidant effects [120]. Moreover, the SEE is also rich in triterpenes such as the tormentic acid and its derivatives; these bioactive compounds had been detected also in S. spinosum root extracts [121], and are known for their hypolipidemic and hepatoprotective effects [122]. In conclusion, the phenolome of the S. spinosum fruit extract shows large similarity with those of other Rosaceae [123].

Recently, western diet and sedentary lifestyle habits increased the prevalence of hepatic steatosis and NAFLD worldwide. A relaible cellular model of hepatic steatosis had been developed and widely employed by our group [104], [105], [124], and adopted for the present study. Our findings show that the ethanolic extract from Lebaneese S. spinosum fruits is able to counteract *in vitro* the moderate hepatic steatosis resulting from exposure of hepatic cells to excess of exogenous fatty acids. The lipid-lowering activity of the extract was sustained by its action on lipid droplets whose number and size were increased markedly in steatotic cells compared to controls, and decreased significanly upon incubation with the extract. Interestingly, our results on a cellular model of hepatic steatosis are in line with previous studies showing the biological activity of an aqueous extract of S. spinosum roots on both a mouse model of fatty liver disease [31], and on diabetic mice [32]. Of note, while in mice with fatty liver, the root extract was able to improve insulin resistance and to prevent hepatic steatosis [31], in diabetic mice the extract improved glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity, but did not reduce hepatic steatosis. The novelty of our approach is the demonstration that a polyphenols-enriched ethanolic extract prepared from S. spinosum fruits exterts a potent and direct action on steatotic hepatic cells thus indicating that the biological activity of the extract does not depend on the secondary metabolites derived from digestion and biotransformation preocesses.

As well known, excess hepatic fat depot leads to overproduction of free radicals and oxidant species resulting in a vicious circle leading to oxidative stress and inflammation. Indeed, both oxidative stress and the consequent lipid peroxidation are elevated in NAFLD patients [125]. The oxidative stress condition was observed also in our cellular model of moderate steatosis, where both the ROS levels and the lipid peroxidation increased markedly in steatotic hepatocytes. The *in vitro* free radical scavanger ability of SSE was confirmed also *in situ* at the cellular level thus sustaining the anti-oxidant potential of the extract. Indeed, in the steatotic hepatocytes, the fat-induced oxidative stress was counteracted by SEE which led to a significant

reduction in both ROS and lipid peroxidation levels. Interestingly, catalase, the main antioxidant enzyme which decomposes the excess of  $H_2O_2$ , resulted impaired in the steatotic FaO cells, and this may be a sign of an unbalance in the anti-oxidant system due to the excees fat depot. The catalase activity was restored by the treatment with SEE. Of note, the published results on catalase activity are conflicting with some studies reporting a decrease [53] and others reporting an increase [126] depending on the models of NAFLD. Of note, our findings about the anti-oxidant and hepatoprotective ability of SEE well parallel a previous study reporting the hepatoprotective activity of a water/methanol extract from *S. spinosum* roots being able to reduce the oxidative stress in a model of hepatic damage in CCl4- insulted rats [127].

Based on the phenolome profile recorded by HPLC-MS/MS analysis and on the literature data, we focused on the ellegitannins (corilagin) and the flavonoids (quercetin) as the possible central players of the beneficial activity of the *S. spinosum* extract. Indeed, both quercetin [128] and corilagin [116] are well known for their beneficial effects. We assessed the hepatoprotective efficacy of both these PCs as single agents and compared them with the SEE. Both Cg and Qu played antisteatotic activity, but Cg was more effective than Qu in reducing the intracellular TG accumulation and in protecting the cell membrane from the lipid peroxidation. Interestingly, Qu was more effective in reducing the ROS production. Indeed, different polyphenols can influence different number of signaling pathways that have an impact on various cellular and tissue-level processes [129]. However, we want to note that the *S. spinosum* extract was more effective than both Cg and Qu in counteracting fat accumulation and ROS production. Maybe this effects depends on synergistic or additive effects along the pool fo PCs being present in the crude plant extract [130].

In conclusion, a lot of epidemiological data provide evidence for the health benefits of diets rich in herbs, fruits and vegetables, mainly due to their bioactive constituents, including polyphenols endowed with well-documented potential to ameliorate the interconnected pathological processes of inflammation and oxidative stress [131]. The present study demonstrates the hepatoprotective effects of an ethanolic extract from *S. spinosum* fruits being rich in PCs and suggests that the ellagitannins and flavonoids that are abundant in the SEE may sustain the beneficial activity. These findings unveil the potential of this shrub to be employed as functional food or nutraceutical supplementary to counteract/improve the metabolic disorders associated to overnutrition, oveweight and NAFLD.

# Acknowledgements

This research was supported by grants from University of Genova (FRA 2020). We would like to thank Prof. Alberto Diaspro and the Nikon Imaging Center (Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia) for fluorescence microscopy acquisition.

# Funding

This work was supported by University of Genova funds (FRA 2021 and 2022).

4. Chapter Four: The anti-inflammatory potential of an ethanolic extract from Sarcopoterium spinosum fruits for protection and/or counteraction against oxidative stress in



dysfunctional endothelial cells.

Figure 4-1 Chapter four graphical abstract

# The anti-inflammatory potential of an ethanolic extract from *Sarcopoterium spinosum* fruits for protection and/or counteraction against oxidative stress in dysfunctional endothelial cells.

Hawraa Zbeeb<sup>1</sup>, Francesca Baldini<sup>2</sup>, Lama Zeaiter<sup>1,2</sup> and Laura Vergani<sup>\*1</sup>

- Department of Earth, Environment and Life Sciences (DISTAV), University of Genova, 16132 Genova, Italy. Electronic address: laura.vergani@unige.it.
- 2. Nanoscopy and NIC@IIT, Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia (IIT), 16152 Genova, Italy

The following paper was published online in the International Journal of Molecular Sciences on 27 January 2024, DIO: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms25031601

#### Abstract

Plants and plant extracts are a relevant source of bioactive compounds widely employed as functional food. The shrub *Sarcopoterium spinosum* is traditionally used as herbal medicine for weight loss and diabetes treatment in the Mediterranean area. Inflammation is a protective mechanism involved in the development of many pathological conditions, including cardiovascular disease (CVD). The present study aimed at investigating in vitro the antioxidant and cytoprotective properties of an ethanolic extract from S. spinosum fruits (SEE) in a cellular model of endothelium dysfunction. Corilagin and quercetin are two polyphenols abundant in SEE and tested for comparison. Exposure of HECV cells for 24 h to 30  $\mu$ M H2O2 lead to an oxidative stress condition. When HECV cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ g/mL of SEE, or single compounds, after or before the oxidative insult, the results showed their ability to: *(i)* decrease the ROS production measured by fluorometric analysis, and the lipid peroxidation measured by the spectrophotometric assay; *(ii)* to rescue both the GSH/GSSG and NO impair and the tissue protein denaturation; *(iii)* to accelerate the wound repair measured by T-scratch assay. Taken together, our findings indicate that the ethanolic extract from S. spinosum fruits could be a potential candidate for nutraceutical application.

# Key words:

*Sarcopoterium spinosum* fruit extracts; corilagin; quercetin; antioxidant activity; antiinflammatory activity; wound healing.

#### 4.1. Introduction

Inflammation is a protective mechanism of the organism in response to external and internal stimuli caused by mechanical, chemical or biological stresses [132]. Oxidative stress plays a crucial role in the development and perpetuation of inflammation and contributes to the pathophysiology of a number of diseases such as cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, degenerative processes and cancer [133]. The oxidative stress refers to the unbalance between generation of pro-oxidant species and antioxidant defences, which may occur for both increasing production of oxidant molecules and/or impair of the antioxidant system [110]. A physiological production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and free radicals results from many cellular processes the antioxidant defence this may lead to oxidative stress and tissue damages [134]. The denaturation of tissue proteins is well-documented in inflammatory diseases and it is considered a marker for inflammation [135].

The vascular endothelium is the largest organ in the body where it plays anti-inflammatory and anticoagulant actions, maintains vascular tones, and acts as physiological barrier to prevent blood cell adhesion [136]. Endothelial dysfunction is characterized by decreased production and/or local bioavailability of nitric oxide (NO) and excess production of ROS [137]; in turn, endothelium dysfunction may trigger a lot of pathological pathways such as CVD, being typically associated to diabetes and obesity [138]–[140]

To control inflammation, both steroidal and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) can be used, but they may result in undesirable side effects. This has led to increasing interest in the research of bioactive compounds with anti-inflammatory activity extracted from natural sources, as they can offer certain advantages compared with synthetic drugs, such as the low incidence of adverse effects in the patient.

Polyphenols (PPs) are phenyl propanoids synthetized by plants as secondary metabolites, and are found largely in the fruits, vegetables and cereals [92]. More than 8000 phenolic molecules have been identified, and polyphenols must contain at least one aromatic nucleus and one or more -OH groups. The Mediterranean diet is characterized by high consumption of foods rich in polyphenols, and it is associated with health promotion [141]. In particular polyphenols are potent antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial and cardio-protective agents [142] . Towards the end of 20th century, epidemiological studies and associated meta-analyses strongly suggested that long term consumption of diets rich in plant polyphenols protect against metabolic disorders and cardiovascular diseases (CVD) [143], [144].

*Sarcopoterium spinosum*, Bilan in Arabic, is a chamaephyte of the Rosaceae family, which is largely employed as a medicinal plant in the Mediterranean region. Ethnopharmacological studies reported the traditional usage of *S. spinosum* extracts for the treatment of several disorders, especially diabetes [2], [28], pain relief [27], asthma, kidney stones and poisoning [30]. The majority of surveys focused on the aqueous extract from *S. spinosum* roots [32], [33], whereas the biological effects of the fruits were less investigated. In a recent study of our group, different extracts from *S. spinosum* fruits were compared in terms of their phytochemical activity and lipid-lowering effect in steatotic hepatocytes [145]. As a last consideration, the folk habits in using the medicinal plants, *S. spinosum* in particular, lead the Lebanese population to assume them as infusion/tea as therapy for specific illnesses, or to drink them daily as a healthy habit for disease prevention. Therefore, in our study we tried to mimic both these modalities of their intake.

The aim of the present study was to investigate the antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and cytoprotective potential of the ethanolic extract from *S. spinosum* fruits (SEE) on a cellular model of endothelial dysfunction consisting of human endothelial exposed to an oxidative insult. Many oxidative stress markers such as the cytosolic production of ROS, the release of NO, the level of membrane lipid peroxidation, the alteration of the GSH/GSSG ratio were

determined. Moreover, the protective ability of SEE was tested in both cell-free assays as protection against protein denaturation and in cell models as promotion of the wound healing. Our findings seem to indicate that the ethanol extract, due to its main polyphenols corilagin and quercetin, is endowed with significant anti-inflammatory effects on dysfunctional endothelial cells thus representing a good nutraceutical candidate.

# 4.2. Materials and methods

## 4.2.1. Chemicals

Unless otherwise indicated, the reagents employed were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich Corp. (Milan, Italy).

# 4.2.2. Plant collection and extraction

*Sarcopoterium spinosum* (L.) Spach fruits (Figure 4-2) were collected in summer from the wild in South Lebanon, Hadatha (Latitude: 33° 09' 60.00" N, Longitude: 35° 22' 59.99"). They were identified according to Prof. George Tohme, a taxonomist and president of Lebanese CNR. A voucher specimen (R5.36) was placed in the Lebanon National Herbarium at the Lebanese University, Faculty of Sciences.

The fruits were dried for three weeks in a shaded, temperate environment. To prepare the ethanolic extract, a liter of 99% ethanol was mixed with 50g of ground material. After 3 h, the mixture was filtered and then ethanol was evaporated and the dry pellet was collected at 42°C in a rotary evaporator (Heidolph Instruments, Schwabach, Germany). The MS characterization of the SEE characterized the polyphenolic profile of the extract (Table 4-1)



Figure 4-2 S. spinosum characteristics and distribution

*S. spinosum* plant in its natural environment: (**A**) the shrub and fruits (**B**) the region of the fruit collection: Haddatha, South Lebanon .

# 4.2.3. Protein Quantification

The protein content of the samples was quantified by Bradford assay using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard [98].

## 4.2.4. Cell culture and treatments

Human endothelial cells the HECV cells (Cell Bank and Culture-GMPIST, Genoa, Italy) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium High Glucose (D-MEM) supplemented with 2mM Glutamine and 10% FBS at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. To induce oxidative cells, HECV were insulted for 24 h with 30  $\mu$ M hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>). For treatment, cells were incubated for 24 h with either 10  $\mu$ g/mL of SEE or the single PPs corilagin (Cg) and querectin (Qu). The treatments with polyphenols were performed both before the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>

insult (to assess the protective activity) or after (to assess the counteraction activity). Each experiment was performed at least in quadruplicate.

## 4.2.5. Cell viability assessment

The antiproliferative and/or cytotoxic activity of SEE and its main components was determined using the MTT assay. Cell viability was tested by the 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) reduction assay [103]. Briefly, 2000 cell/well were seeded (200 $\mu$ L volume) in a 96 well plate, and incubated at 37°C in humidified air with 5% CO2 for 24 h. After that, cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ g/mL of either SEE, Cg, or Qu. After 24 h 20  $\mu$ L of MTT solution (5mg/mL) were added to each well and incubated for 3 h. At the end, medium was removed, formazan was dissolved by 200  $\mu$ L of isopropanol and the absorbance was read at 570 nm.

## 4.2.6. **ROS production**

Oxidant species prodution were quantified *in situ* using the oxidation of the cell-permeant 2'-7'dichlorofluorescin diacetate (DCF-DA, Fluka, Germany) to 2'-7'dichlorofluorescein (DCF) [107]. Briefly, cells were treated, collected and then were incubated with 1  $\mu$ M DCF-DA in PBS prepared from stock 10 mM stock prepared in DMSO for 30 min at 37°C in the dark. After that, cells were centrifuged, suspended in 2 mL PBS and the fluorescence was read at 25°C using a water-thermostated cuvette holder ( $\lambda_{ex}$ =495 nm;  $\lambda_{em}$ =525 nm) with a LS50B fluorimeter (Perkin Elmer, USA). Protein quantification was used for normalization. Results are expressed as percent flourescence intensity relative to control. The results represent the average of at least three independent experiments in triplicate.

For fluorescence microscopy, the oxidant species were stained with 1  $\mu$ M DCF-DA in PBS, and DNA with 2  $\mu$ g/mL Hoechst 33342 (Thermofiher Scientific, Italy). Images were acquired at 20X magnification by optical and/or phase contrast microscopy using an inverted Olympus IX53 microscope (Olympus, Milano, Italy) equipped with a CCD UC30 camera and a digital

image acquisition software (cellSens Entry). All images were processed by using ImageJ software.

## 4.2.7. Lipid peroxidation

Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay [108] quantify spectrophotometrically lipid peroxidation level which is based on the reaction of malondialdehyde (MDA; 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane) with thiobarbituric acid (TBA). Briefly, 250 uL of cell solution was incubated for 45 min at 95°C with 500  $\mu$ L of TBA solution (0.375% TBA, 15% trichloroacetic acid, 0.25 N HCl). Then, 750  $\mu$ L of N-butanol was added and the organic phase was read at ( $\lambda_{ex}$ =532nm) in a UV-VIS spectrophotometer at 25°C using Peltierthermostated cuvette holder.

## 4.2.8. Nitrite/Nitrate levels

The nitric oxide level produced by HECV cells was determined by the Griess reagent following the previously described method [146]. The NO production using spectrophotometric analysis of the end products, nitrites and nitrates. Following treatments, nitrite accumulation was measured by incubating 500 mL media with 500 mL of griess ragent and incubated in dark for 10 min, absorbance was recorded at  $\lambda$ 540 nm. NaNO<sub>2</sub> standard curve was used as reference. Results were normalized with protein quatification and were expressed as (µmol NaNO2/mg sample protein).

## 4.2.9. GSH/GSSG Ratio

The ratio between the reduced (GSH) and oxidized (GSSG) glutathione is a frequently used indicator of oxidative stress in cells and tissues. In our cellular samples, the levels of GSH and GSSG were measured using the glutathione colorimetric assay Kit (ZX-44100-96, Zelix, Germany). Briefly, cells seeded in 100 mm<sup>2</sup> plates were treated and then harvested in 1 mL of cold PBS, homogenized and deproteinized by 5% 5-sulfo-salicylic acid. Total glutathione (GSH+GSSG) and GSSG levels were evaluated in the supernatant according to the manufacturer's protocols. The absorbance of each sample was read in a UV-VIS

spectrophotometer at 25°C ( $\lambda ex = 405$  nm) using plate reader. Then the GSH level and then GSH/GSSG ratio were calculated as stated below:

$$GSH = Total glutathione - GSSG$$

$$GSH/GSSG = \frac{GSH}{GSSG}$$

## 4.2.10. Wound healing assay

For the wound healing assay [147], HECV cells were seeded on  $35 \times 10 \text{ mm}^2$  tissue culture dishes and incubated until 100% confluency, then by using p100 pipet tip the cell monolayer was scraped making two crossing straight lines to create a "scratch". Then, three views on the scratch were photographed by an inverted Olympus IX53 microscope (Olympus, Milan, Italy) and representative images were captured with a CCD UC30 camera and a digital image acquisition software (cellSens Entry). After scratching, medium was replaced with fresh medium in the presence of each plant extract and the polyphenols or H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Set of images were acquired at 0 and 24 h. To determine the migration of HECV, the images were analysed using ImageJ free software (http:// imagej.nih.gov/ij/). Percentage of the closed area was measured and compared with the value obtained before treatment. An increase of the percentage of closed area indicated the migration of cells. Data are means  $\pm$  S.D. of at least three independent experiments

#### 4.2.11. Protein denaturation assay

The protein denaturation assay was performed according to a classical method [148] with minor modifications. Breifly, either 2 mL (10  $\mu$ g/mL) of the extract or of the NSAID diclofenac sodium (2-[(2,6 dichlorophenyl)amino] benzene acetic acid sodium salt) were mixed with 2.8 mL 1M phosphate buffer (pH 6.4) and 0.2 mL 1% BSA and incubated at 37°C for 15 min; then, the temperature was increased to 70°C for 5 min and, after cooling. the absorbance of the

sample was read at 660 nm. The control (100% protein denaturated sample) was prepared as 4.8 mL phosphate buffer with 0.2 mL 1% BSA. The percentage inhibition of BSA denaturation was calculated as stated below:

$$\% BSA inhibition = 100 * (\frac{Ab \ control - Ab \ sample}{Ab \ control})$$

#### 4.2.12. Statistical analysis

Data are means  $\pm$  S.D. of at least three independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed using ANOVA with Tukey's post-test (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA).

# 4.3. Results

## **4.3.1.** Cytoprotective activity of SEE on enothelial cells

As previously described [145], the ethanolic extract from *S. spinosum* fruits is rich in polyphenols (PPs). The ellagitannin family was found to be the most abundant group of polyphenols in the extract (approximately 50.8%). Triterpenes and flavonoids were also present in significant amounts (about 11.9% and 7% of the extract, respectively) (Table 4-1). As the preliminary step we assessed if SEE, single PPs and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> affect viability and/or proliferation of HECV cells in order to identify the concentrations at which they could be employed. Any cytotoxicty on HECV cells after 24 h was excluded for both the oxidative insult (30  $\mu$ M H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) as well as for the SEE and the single polyphenols corilagin (Cg) and quercetin (Qu) at the dose of 10  $\mu$ g/mL (Figure 4-3A). Interestingly, the exposure of HECV cells to corilagin was able to slightly stimulate the cell proliferation (+7%, p≤0.05 compared to Ctrl).

RT	[M-	MS/MS	SEE major compounds	Classification	%
(min)	H]-	fragments			
13.5	935	633/301/897	Casuarictin isomer	Ellagitannins	15.0
15.4	935	633/301/897/783	Casuarictin isomer	Ellagitannins	8.9
17.9	477.1	301	Quercetin glucuronide	Flavonoids	7.0
12.2	935	633/301	Castalagin/Vescalagin	Ellagitannins	6.7
7.5	783.2	633/301	Pedunculagin	Ellagitannins	4.8
5.6	633.1	301/463	Corilagin	Ellagitannins	3.3
22.6	709.3	501/663	23-hydroxytormentic acid ester	Triterpenoids	2.2
			glucoside [M+HCOO]- isomer		
22.8	707.3	499/661	Di-reduced 23-hydroxytormentic	Triterpenoids	1.8
			acid ester glucoside [M+HCOO]-		
25.6	503.2	485/471/453/441	23-hydroxytormentic acid	Triterpenoids	1.2

 Table 4- 1 Major components identified in the ethanolic extract from S. spinosum fruit by using HPLC 

 MS/MS in the negative ionization mode and their respective abundance

# 4.3.2. Anti-oxidant activity of SEE on dysfunctional endothelial cells

The exposure of cells to  $H_2O_2$  represents an oxidant insult leading to over-production of ROS and free radicals that, in part, may be neutralized by the antioxidant enzymes, and in part may trigger lipid peroxidation reactions which are the general marker for oxidative stress. The intracellular ROS production was assessed by *in situ* fluorometric analysis of DCF-stained cells (Figure 4-3B). As expected, the exposure to 30  $\mu$ M H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> led to significant increase in ROS production (+20% vs untreated control; p≤0.05). A significant decrease in the ROS level was observed when SEE was added after (counteracting activity) or together (preventing activity) the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> insult (-22% and -24% vs control, respectively; p≤0.01 and p≤0.0001). A similar effect was observed for corilagin alone which significantly reduced the ROS production of -33% (p≤0.0001) in the counteraction mode, and of -24%, p≤0.01 in the protection mode. By contrast, quercetin alone was not able to decrease the ROS production in protection mode, whereas it was effective in counteraction mode (-22%; p≤0.001). The changes in ROS production as a function of the treatments were visualized in parallel by fluorescence microscopy (Figure 4-3C).

As the ROS over-production may trigger lipid peroxidation of the cell membranes, by TBARS spectrophotometric assay we quantified the levels of the byproduct MDA (Figure 4-3D). The MDA level markedly increased in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells compared to control (+63%, p≤0.001 for protection condition, and +97%, p≤0.0001 for counteraction condition). The lipid peroxidation was significantly reduced by all treatments. For the counteraction condition all agents exerted a similar antioxidant effect by reducing the MDA increase of -110% (SEE), -109% (Cg) and of -111% (Qu) (p≤0.0001) compared to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells. Also in the protection condition we observed an antioxidant effect with a reduction in the MDA levels by -70% (SEE), -72% (Cg) and -64% (Qu) (p≤0.01) compared to only H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> treated cells.

In the cytosol, the reduced glutathione (GSH) can be oxidized to glutathione disulfide (GSSG) to balance the redox status. Figure 4-3E shows the changes in the GSH/GSSG ratio as a function of the treatments. We observed a signifcant reduction ( $p\leq0.05$ ) of the GSH/GSSG ratio when HECV cells were exposed to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (from  $9.5\pm0.3$  in control cells to  $6.3\pm0.7$  in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cell in counteraction conditions, and  $6.6\pm0.6$  in protection conditions). The GSH/GSSG ratio condition, all polyphenos rescued the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced decrease in the GSH/GSSG ratio ( $11.3\pm0.5$  for SEE,  $10.7\pm1.3$  for Cg, and  $12.3\pm1.6$  for Qu) compared to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells ( $p\leq0.01$  and  $p\leq0.001$ , respectively). For the counteraction condition, only SEE and Cg were able to significantly ( $p\leq0.01$ ) rescue the decrease in GSH/GSSG ( $10.5\pm2$  for SEE and  $11.1\pm1.1$  for Cg).



Figure 4- 3 Antioxidant activity of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract

Effects of 24 h treatment with either 10 µg/mL of extract (SEE), or corilagin (Cg) or quercetin (Qu) on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-insulted HECV cells evaluated in terms of: (**A**) cell viability evaluated by MTT assay; (**B**) intracellular ROS level quantified by spectrofluorometric assay on DCF-stained cells and expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for total proteins; (**C**) fluorescence microscopy of DCF/Hoechst stained cells; (**D**) intracellular level of MDA (pmol MDA/mL×mg of sample protein) quantified by TBARS assay and expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for total proteins. (**E**) GSH:GSSG ratio quantified by colorimetric kit. Values are mean ± S.D. from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance between groups was assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's test. Symbols: \*p≤ 0.05, \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*p≤0.001, \*\*\*\*p≤0.001

## 4.3.3. Anti-inflammatory activity of SEE on dysfunctional endothelial cells

The anti-inflammatory potential of SEE was evaluated *in vitro* by a cell-free assay measuring the inhibition of the thermal denaturation of albumin. Protein denaturation refers to a process in which the proteins loose their 3D structure due to exposure to external stress which generally leads to a loss of their biological functions. The inhibitory effect on protein denaturation was measured for all compounds at 10 µg/mL concentration. Diclofenac reported the highest ability to protect protein from thermal denaturation (inhibition of 60%; p≤0.0001). Among polyphenols, the strongest effect was reported for querectin and SEE (inhibition of 53% and 49% vs BSA alone, respectively; p≤0.0001) followed by corilagin (inhibition of 38%; p≤0.0001) (Figure 4-4A).

The anti-inflammatory potential was also evaluated *in vivo* by measuring the NO release in  $H_2O_2$ -stimulated HECV cells. Our data showed a decrease in NO release after stimulating the cells with  $H_2O_2$ , (-41% in protection condition and -22% in counteraction conditions compared to control; p $\leq$ 0.05). Both the single polyphenols and the SEE rescued the  $H_2O_2$ -induced NO decrease. For the protection condition, the NO release increased significantly of +57%, (SEE), +65% (Cg) and of +67%, (Qu) compared to  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells. Also in the counteraction condition we observed a significant increase in the NO levels by +82%, (SEE), +65%, (Cg) and +74% (Qu) compared to only  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells (Figure 4-4B).


#### Figure 4- 4 Anti-inflammatory activity of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract

Influence of 10 µg/mL of either extract (SEE), or corilagin (Cg) or quercetin (Qu) as antiinflammatory agent. We assessed: (A) *in vitro* cell-free inhibition of heat-induced BSA denaturation at 75°C, using diclofenac sodium as a reference; (B) NO production in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-stimulated HECV cells quantified in the medium as µmol NaNO2/mg sample protein by Griess reaction. All values are expressed as % of control. Values are mean  $\pm$  S.D. from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance between groups was assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's test. Symbols: \*p≤0.05, \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*p≤0.001

#### 4.3.4. Promoting effect of SEE on the wound repair of endothelial cells

The T-scratch assay is typically utilized to quantify cellular migration on two-dimensional (2D) surfaces over time upon treatments. Figure 4-5 reports the images and the histograms for all the samples with the wound width at t24 expressed as % respect to the original wound width at t0 from the scratch. At t24, control HECV cells showed a reduction in the wound width of -54%, while in the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-treated cells the wound width was reduced only of -25% (conteraction condition) and of -36% (protection condition). This indicates a slowdown in the healing process due to the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> insult around -25% (p≤0.01) in both counteraction and protection conditions compared to normal cells. The treatment with PPs resulted in an average acceleration of the wound repair compared to positive and negative controls. Of note, a significant acceleration in the wound healing process was observed only when SEE and Cg were added before or after the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> insult, while quercetin did not affect significantly the wound repair. In counteraction

condition, both SEE and corilagin reduced the wound width of a similar extent (-60% and -62%, respectively) Similar results were observed in the protection condition, with SEE and corilagin reducing the wound width of a similar extent (-64% and -68%, respectively). These data indicate that both SEE and corilagin trigger a significant acceleration of the wound repair in both counteraction condition (+46 % and +45%, respectively p≤0.0001) and in the protection conditio (+50 % and +59 %; p≤0.0001) compared to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-insulted cells.



#### Figure 4- 5 Wound repair promoting effect of the S. spinosum fruit ethanolic extract

Influence of 10  $\mu$ g/mL of either extract (SEE), or corilagin (Cg) or quercetin (Qu) on cell migration and wound repair measured using the T-schratch assay on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-stimulated HECV cells. (A) The wound width was marked by dotted lines in representative images acquired by an inverted Olympus IX53 microscope (Olympus, Milan, Italy) and captured with a CCD UC30 camera and a digital image

73

acquisition software (cellSens Entry); (**B**) Histogrmas representing the percentage of the wound healing after 24 h of inducing the wound (% to Control). Values are mean  $\pm$  S.D. from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance between groups was assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's test. Symbols: \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*\*p≤0.0001

#### 4.4. Discussion

Reinforcing the defenses of the vascular endothelium against oxidative stress and inflammation has been proposed as a viable option for reducing the onset and progression of cardiovascular disease, and other pathologies such as diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and degenerative processes. The main finding of the present study is that the ethanolic extract from *S. spinosum* fruits, being rich in polyphenols such as corilagin and quercetin, is able to protect endothelial cells against oxidative stress generated by a strong oxidant insult. The antioxidant defense exerted by the *S. spinosum* extract seems to be sustained by the scavenging of the ROS excess with consequent reduction in lipid peroxidation, by a rescue of both the GSH/GSSG and NO impair, and by protection against the tissue protein denaturation. Besides, this cytoprotective action of the SEE is accompanied by an acceleration of the wound healing process.

Polyphenols are well known for their antioxidant potential and they could be employed in slowing the progression of cardiovascular disorders [149]. *S. spinosum* is a medicinal plant traditionally used as an anti-diabetic remedy in Lebanon [2]. Although the anti-diabetic activity of *S. spinosum* root extracts is reported in different studies [32], [33] the beneficial effects of aerial parts, especially fruits, had been poorly elucidated in the past. Recently Hudec *et al.* characterized an ethanol extract from *S. spinosum* leaves and thorns showing their abundance in flavonoids (rutin), alkaloids (stachydrine) and ammonium compounds (benzalkonium chloride) sustaining its cytotoxic effects on cancerous cells [38]. Regarding the fruits, in a recent paper published by or group [145], the ethanolic extract from *S. spinosum* fruits has been

extensively investigated in terms of phenolome profile and biological activity using a model of steatotic hepatocytes. For this reason, we considered SEE a promising candidate for protecting vascular endothelium from oxidative stress and inflammatory events. Indeed, the *S. spinosum* ethanolic extract is rich in ellagitannins (such as corilagin), flavonoids (such as quercetin) and triterpenoids [145]. Ellagitannins were found to be the most prevalent subgroup, constituting more than 50% of the overall extract. In addition, triterpenes and flavonoids were abundant in the extract, especially quercetin and its derivatives, were also present in significant amounts within the ethanolic extract, making up about 11% of the total content.

Free radicals are products of the normal cellular metabolism and participate as signaling molecules in the regulation of physiological functions and in the redox mechanisms in order to protect cells against oxidative stress [150]. However, excessive production of free radicals causes oxidative damage to biomolecules (DNA, lipids, proteins) and is associated with the development of different pathological conditions of the body [151]. Excessive ROS levels trigger cellular oxidative stress leading to cell injury, endothelium dysfunction and tissue damage, thus contributing to the development and progression of many vascular diseases [152]. Endothelium dysfunction can be defined as an alteration of the endothelium physiology towards a pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic state. This condition is linked to cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, autoimmune diseases, bacterial and viral infections [138], [140]. Endothelium dysfunction is characterized by inflammation, altered NO production and bioavailability, ROS over-production and lipid peroxidation [153].

To mimic *in vitro* the endothelium dysfunction occurring during CVD, HECV cells were exposed to hydrogen peroxide which triggers oxidative stress inside the cells [154], [155]. To test the beneficial potential of the SEE we used two experimental conditions. In the first condition (the counteraction condition), we stressed the cells with  $H_2O_2$  and then treated them with SEE, or single compounds (corilagin and quercetin). In the second condition (the protection condition), we treated the cells with SEE, or single compounds the cells with SEE, or single compounds (corilagin and quercetin).

them with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. These two conditions try to mimic the folk habits in using the medicinal plants. Indeed, the Lebanese population may assume infusion/tea of *S. spinosum* parts as therapy for pain or specific illnesses (such as diabetes) or may drink them daily as a healthy habit for disease prevention.

We observed that, as consequence of  $H_2O_2$  insult, the endothelial cells developed an oxidative stress, which was counteracted/prevented by SEE, or single compounds. In both the experimental conditions, a significant decrease in intracellular ROS production was observed *in situ* by fluorescence microscopy and fluorimetric analysis. Also, the ROS-related lipid peroxidation was significantly decreased by SEE and single compounds, compared to  $H_2O_2$ -treated cells. The efficacy of the SEE extract and its single compounds corilagin and quercetin probably depends on their direct action as scavenger of the hydrogen peroxide due to the presence of phenolic groups that are known to be able to transform  $H_2O_2$  in water by donating electrons [156]. Of note, both the SEE and corilagin and quercetin were able to counteract ROS production and lipid peroxidation in steatotic hepatocytes [145].

Reduced glutathione (GSH) is the main non enzymatic intracellular antioxidant and it is a marker for oxidative stress [157]. GSH acts by reducing peroxides (hydrogen and lipid peroxides) through its oxidation to GSSG by acting as co-substrate of glutathione peroxidase [158]. In normal cells the concentration of GSH typically ranges between 1-10 mM, and in different oxidative models the GSH/GSSG ratio markedly decreases [159]. Our results showed a decrease in the physiological GSH/GSSG ratio in dysfunctional endothelial cells, and all the treatments, except quercetin, were able to rescue the impair in the GSH/GSSG ratio in both experimental conditions (protection and counteraction).

Endothelial derived NO is a versatile molecule with large impact on many physiological functions. In tissue inflammation, an increased production of NO by macrophages has been reported [160], whereas in vascular endothelium a decreased production of NO occurs [132]. Our results show a decrease in NO release in  $H_2O_2$ -stimulated cells. The primary process that

decreases the bioavailability of vascular NO is associated with the NO breakdown through oxidation by ROS, mainly superoxide [161]. Of note, NO regulates the permeability of the endothelial barriers acting as anti-inflammatory agent [162]. Our results proved the ability of the SEE, and the single phenolic compounds, to restore NO bioavailability in line with previous studies [163].

Metabolic disorders typically lead to increased protein denaturation in many tissues that results in the generation of autoantigens and amplification of inflammation [164]. Therefore, agents that can prevent protein denaturation could be of great interest in anti-inflammatory strategies. Several non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents have been reported to preserve/safeguard albumin form thermal denaturation [135]. Our findings show that both the SEE, and the single polyphenols, were effective in protecting albumin from thermal denaturation, thus suggesting that the extract might be a stabilizing agent with anti- inflammatory potential.

Cell migration holds significant role in a broad spectrum of physiological and pathological events [165], and it encompasses essential aspects such as development, angiogenesis, inflammatory responses, wound healing, and tumor invasion [166]. Wound healing is a complex event, where a variety of cell types interact playing various functions. The endothelial cells have a special role as they undergo a series of morphological and functional alterations during wound healing [167]. When the SSE was tested for its potential in the wound repair, we observed that both the extract as well as the corilagin accelerate significantly the wound closure when compared to the positive and negative control. As quercetin was not effective in accelerating the wound repair, we can hypothesize that the extract might act mainly depending on its high content in corilagin. Indeed, we observed that corilagin increased cell proliferation in the MTT assay. Interestingly, our findings are in line with results reported for different species of the Rosaceae family. In particular, both a methanolic extract from *Rubus imperialis* was able to promote wound healing in artificially wounded L929 fibroblasts [168], and a methanol bark extract from *Prunus africana* demonstrated wound healing activity in a mouse

model [169]. According to the general idea, the wound healing effects of our extract and corilagin could be related to their ability to control oxidative stress [170].

In conclusion, substituting synthetic antioxidants with natural alternatives, due to the potential benefits for human health, is proved beneficial. The beneficial effects of the *S. spinosum* fruit ethanol extract, which is rich in polyphenols, clearly indicate that this fruit possesses a potential antioxidant ability, which explains its traditional use. In general, the extract demonstrated similar behavior and, consequently, similar anti-inflammatory capability compared with corilagin and quercetin. Moreover, both habits of taking the herbal remedies and supplements proved their efficacy in counteracting/preventing the progression of the disease. Therefore, we suggest that this plant may have a good application as nutraceutical supplement in the prevention and treatment of metabolic and chronic diseases.

# Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Elaria Faraone and Francesca Torre for their help during the experimental assays.

# Funding

This work was supported by grants from the University of Genova (FRA 2020). Part of this work benefits of the PRIMA 2022-B4HT\_Prima 2022\_00124 "Box for Health by Tradition & Innovation: promoting sustainable mediterranean diet by Healthy Foods Progetto" (CUP D33C22002150007).

# 5. Chapter Five: Development of human models of insulin

# resistance in hepatoma HepG2 cells



Figure 5-1 Chapter five graphical abstract

# Development of human models of insulin resistance in hepatoma HepG2 cells

Hawraa Zbeeb<sup>1</sup>, Francesca Baldini<sup>2</sup>, Piero Portincasa<sup>3</sup> and Laura Vergani<sup>\*1</sup>

- Department of Earth, Environment and Life Sciences (DISTAV), University of Genova, 16132 Genova, Italy. Electronic address: laura.vergani@unige.it.
- 2. Nanoscopy and NIC@IIT, Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia (IIT), 16152 Genova, Italy
- 3. Clinical Medica "A. Murri", Department of Biomedical Sciences & Human Oncology, University of Bari "Aldo Moro", 70124 Bari, Italy.

## Abstract

Insulin resistance (IR) is a key factor in metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes, with increasing prevalence globally. This study aimed to establish an experimental model using human hepatoma cells (HepG2) to investigate hepatocellular steatosis and IR. Two pathways, hyperinsulinemia, and lipid accumulation, were explored for IR induction. The optimization of oleate/palmitate (OP) mixture (0.75 mM for 3 h) exposure revealed a significant increase in intracellular triglyceride accumulation, confirming the development of steatosis. Additionally, insulin treatment (1 nM for 48 h) demonstrated a reduction in glucose uptake, defining an IR model. Comparative analyses showed both hyperinsulinemia and lipid accumulation induced IR demonstrated by decreased glucose uptake in both conditions. This model provides a valuable platform for studying natural products' effects on IR.

# Key words:

HepG2 cells, lipid accumulation, steatosis, insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia

#### 5.1. Introduction

Insulin resistance (IR) defines an impaired biologic response to insulin stimulation of target tissues, primarily liver, muscle, and adipose tissue. Therefore, the IR condition in the body impairs glucose disposal resulting in a compensatory increase in pancreatic insulin production and consequent hyperinsulinemia [171]. The metabolic consequences of IR can be hyperglycemia, hypertension, dyslipidemia, hyperuricemia, elevated inflammatory markers, endothelial dysfunction etc. IR is primarily an acquired condition related to excess body fat (obesity), though genetic causes are also identified [172]. Progression of IR can lead to metabolic syndrome (MetS) [173], nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) [174], type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D) [175], and cardiovascular disease (CVD) [85]. Of note, IR typically precedes the development of T2D by 10 to 15 years [176]. In the last decades, the prevalence of IR and IR-associated disorders is increasing, especially in developing countries and among younger age groups, with prevalence estimates ranging from 20% to 40% across various populations [177].

The three primary sites of insulin resistance are the skeletal muscle, liver, and adipose tissue. Skeletal muscle is a large reservoir for circulating glucose, accounting for up to 80% of glucose disposal, and IR results in a decreased glucose uptake by muscle tissue [178]. Glucose is shunted from muscle to the liver, where de novo lipogenesis (DNL) occurs. The liver is the main site of the energy substrate processing by acting on synthesis, packaging, recirculation of fatty acids and synthesis and store of glucose [179]. When circulating glucose is high, the IR in the liver triggers stimulation of DNL and increase in plasma triglyceride content contributing to ectopic lipid deposition in and around visceral organs [180]. The adipose tissue is the physiological store of fat. In IR condition, the failure of insulin to suppress lipolysis in adipocytes increases the circulating free fatty acids (FFAs) that, in turn, directly affect both liver and muscle metabolism, further exacerbating insulin resistance condition and contributing to lipotoxicity-induced dysfunction of pancreatic beta-cell [181].

The growing occurrence of metabolic diseases has sparked a corresponding interest in comprehending the mechanisms through which the environment and nutrition may impact cell metabolism [75]. The experimental approach aiming to investigate the molecular mechanisms of human diseases relies on replicating some facet of its pathogenesis within a controlled system. Animal models have been largely employed to this aim, but they are imperfect proxies for several human diseases [182].

The present study was designed to develop and test an experimental model of insulin resistance in human cells that can be used for further biological investigation of natural products and drugs.

#### 5.2. Material and methods

### 5.2.1. Chemicals

Unless otherwise indicated, the reagents employed were supplied by Sigma-Aldrich Corp. (Milan, Italy).

## 5.2.2. Cell culture and cell model of hepatosteatosis

HepG2 is a human hepatoma cell line supplied by the cell bank American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, USA, HB-8065). This cell line is largely used in drug metabolism and hepatotoxicity studies. HepG2 are nontumorigenic cells with high proliferation rates and epithelial-like morphology that maintian many hepatic functions. HepG2 cells were cultured in Eagle's Minimum Essential Medium (EMEM) supplemented with 2mM Glutamine and 10% FBS at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 5.2.3. Cell model of hepatic steatosis

HepG2 cells were seeded in cell culture plates until reaching 80% confluency. Then, cells were exposed for increasing time periods (1, 2, 3 and 4 h) to a mixture of oleate/ palmitate (0.75

mM, 2:1 molar ratio) in D-MEM with high-glucose (4.5 g/L) supplemented with 0.4% FBS, and 0.25% BSA to mimic *in vitro* the effect of high-fat diet. At the end cells were either fixed for ORO staining or collected for further investigation.

#### 5.2.4. Cell model of IR

The first step has been to determine the optimal dose of insulin and treatment duration to establish an IR condition in HepG2 cells. HepG2 cells were seeded in 6-well plates (with 3x10<sup>5</sup> cells/well) E-MEM complete medium until 80% confluency. To starve the cells, mediun was replaced with D-MEM with a low glucose concentration (1 g/mL) supplemented with 0.4% FBS for 6 h. Then the medium was changed with DMEM with High gluose concentration (4 g/mL) supplemented with 0.4% FBS and insulin at various concentrations (0.01, 0.1, 1, 10 nM) for 24, 48 and 72 h to mimic heperinsulinemia.

#### 5.2.5. Protein quantification

The protein content of the samples was quantified by Bradford assay using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard [98].

#### 5.2.6. Quantification of the intracellular triglyceride content

At the end of each treatment, cells were scraped and lysed by passing cell suspension through a 25 gauge needle. Lipids were extracted using the chloroform/methanol method. The TG content was quantified by adding 500  $\mu$ L of Triglycerides liquid kit reagent (Sentinel Diagnostics, Milan, Italy) for 15 min at 37°C. Absorbance ( $\lambda$ 546) was read with a UV-VIS spectrophotometer against a blank. Glycerol (0.007–0.2  $\mu$ g/mL) was used as reference. The TG content was normalized to protein content and expressed as percent TG content relative to control. For visualisation, Oil-RedO (ORO) staining was employed, and intracellular lipid droplets were stained with 0.3% ORO solution. Images are acquired by Leica DMRB light microscope equipped with a Leica CCD camera DFC420C (Leica, Wetzlar, Germany).

# 5.2.7. Glucose consumption determination

85

The amount of glucose consumption (GC) by cells in different conditions was quantified according to the glucose oxidase method [183]. For this method media without phenol red was used because the end product of this enzymatic experiment is red in color and phenol red may interfere with the results, cells were seeded in 6 well-plate (with  $3x10^5$  cells/well) with one well kept cell free (as it is needed for calculation), after 80% confluency cells were treated as mentioned above. At the end of treatment 25 µL of medium was collected in 5 mL eppendorf, and 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7) was added to reach a final volume of 3 mL. Then, directly in cuvette, 1 mL of the diluted media was mixed with 500 µL enzyme reagent (1500 U glucose oxidase + 100 U of glucose peroxidase + 18g 4-aminoantipyrisine + 36 mg phenol all prepared in 100 mL 0.1 M PB). In parallel, 1 mL PB and 500 µL enzyme reagent were used as blank. After incubation for 15 min at room temperature, the absorbance was measured at 520 nm by UV-VIS spectrophotometer against the blank. A standard curve of increasing concentration of glucose (0–30  $\mu$ g/mL) was prepared. The results for the mediam were expressed in  $\mu$ g/mL of glucose. The glucose content of each sample was normalized to the protein content determined by the Bradford assay. Glucose consumption (GC) was calculated from the glucose concentrations of the cell containing wells subtracted from the cell-free blank wells.

#### 5.2.8. Quantification of the intracellular glycogen content

The intracellular glycogen content was evaluated according to Teng *et al.* [184] with some modifications. At the end of treatments cells were collected and centrifuged. The pellet was lyzed in 400  $\mu$ L 30% KOH for 90 min at 100°C. Ater cooling for 10 min, glycogen was precipitated by addition of 1.2 mL of absolute ethanol for 30 min at 4°C. After centrifugation at 13000 rpm for 30 min the supernatant was removed and any remaining ethanol was air dried. The glycogen pellet was resuspended in 100  $\mu$ L of 1 M HCL and incubated for 30 min at 95°C. After cooling, 100  $\mu$ L NaOH and 300  $\mu$ L ddH<sub>2</sub>O were added to each sample, and the sample was centifuged at 13000 rpm for 10 min. Supernatant was collected and equal volume of 5% phenol solution was added. Also, 500 mL Glucose solution of different concentrations (0–500)

 $\mu$ g/mL ) to used as standard were mixed with 500 mL of 5% phenol. After 15 min incubation at room temperature, 60  $\mu$ L of each sample were transferred to 96-multiwell plates in triplicates, followed by the addition 150  $\mu$ L 96% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. As blank we prepared 60  $\mu$ L of 5% phenol and 150  $\mu$ L 96% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. After 5 min incubation, the glycogen content was determined by the absorbance at 490 nm by UV-VIS spectrophotometer against the blank. Results were normalized to the protein content determined by the Bradford assay.

#### 5.2.9. Cell viability assessment

The possible anti-proliferative and/or cytotoxic activity of first oleate/palmitate mixture at different exposure time and second of the insulin at different concentrations and incubation times was determined using the MTT assay. The cell viability was tested by the 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) reduction assay [103]. Briefly, 10000 cell/well were seeded ( $200\mu$ L volume) in a 96 well plate, and incubated at 37°C in humidified air with 5% CO2 for 24 h. After that, cells were treated with 0.75 mM of OP for (1, 2, 3 and 4 h) or with insulin at increasing concentrations (0.01, 0.1, 1, and 10 nM) for different times (24, 48 and 72 h). After the end of each treatment, 20 µL of MTT solution (5mg/mL) were added to each well and incubated for 3 h. Then, medium was replaced by 200 µL of isopropanol to dissolve formazan salt and the absorbance was read at 570 nm.

#### 5.2.10. Statistical analysis

Data are means  $\pm$  S.D. of at least three independent experiments. The differences among the groups were compared using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's post-test (version 8.0, GraphPad Software, Inc., USA).

# 5.3. Results

#### 5.3.1. Model of human hepatic steatosis

In order to develop a reliable *in vitro* model for human hepatic steatosis we tested the lipid accumulation in HepG2 cells when the cells were exposed to the same concentration of OP for increasing time periods (1, 2, 3 and 4 h). First, by MTT assay we excluded any significant cytotoxicity of OP at all the tested times (Figure 5-2A). The intracellular TG content was quantified spectrophotometrically, and the results showed a significant increase in the TG accumulation for all the incubation times compared to controls. The maximal TG accumulation in HepG2 cells was observed for 2 h incubation (+181%; p≤0.0001), followed by 3 h (+96%; p≤0.01) compared to Ctrl (Figure 5-2B).

For a deeper analysis, the morphometry of the cytosolic lipid droplets (LDs) was assessed using absorption microscopy after ORO staining (Figure 5-2C). While few and small LDs were detected in the control heaptocytes in the steatotic haptocytes (OP) we observed an increase in both the number and the size of LDs.



#### Figure 5-2 Steatotic activity of Oleate/Palmitate on HepG2 cells

HepG2 cells were incubated in the absence (Ctrl) or the presence of oleate/palmitate (OP) for 1, 2,3 and 4 h. (A) Cell viability after incubation of HepG2 cells with OP at different time. (B) The TG content expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for protein content. (C) Representative images of HepG2 cells after ORO staining and acquisition by Leica DMRB light microscope.Values are mean  $\pm$  S.D. from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance between groups was assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's test. Symbols: Ctrl vs OP cells \*p≤ 0.05, \*\*p≤0.01, \*\*\*\*p≤0.0001

### 5.3.2. Model of human IR

The effects of different insulin concentrations (0.01, 0.1, 1 nM) and different time incubations (24, 48 and 72 h) were assessed in HepG2 cells in order to identify a reliable *in vitro* model for Insulin Resistance.

First, by MTT assay (Figure 5-3A) we evaluated the possible cytotoxicity of insulin at all the tested concentrations and times. All the insulin concentrations showed a significant cytotoxicity at 72 h with a decrease cell viability compared to Ctrl of -16%, ( $p \le 0.001$ ), and -18% ( $p \le 0.0001$ ) for 0.01 nM 0.1 nM, respectively, and of -21% ( $p \le 0.0001$  for both the highest concentrations of 1 and 10 nM. On the other hand, the highest insulin concentration (10 nM) showed a significant decrease in cell viability compared to Ctrl also at early times of incubation: -14% at both 24 h ( $p \le 0.001$ ) and 48 h( $p \le 0.05$ ). Therefore, based on these results we excluded this concentration for the further investigations.

The glucose uptake was quantified as a marker of IR. The results showed the maximal reduction in the glucose uptake for the insulin dose of 1 nM at both 24 h (-27% vs Ctrl; p $\leq$ 0.05) and 48 h (-31% vs Ctrl; p $\leq$ 0.05) of incubation (Figure 5-3B). In contrast, the lower insulin concentrations (0.01 and 0.1 nM) promoted an increase in glucose uptake at 48 h (+41% and +37% vs Ctrl; p $\leq$ 0.05 respectively) triggering the normal response of insulin on cells. Therefore, in HepG2 cells we identified the tretament for 48 h with an insulin concentration of 1 nM as the best model to mimic *in vitro* an IR condition.



## Figure 5-3 Insulin effects with different concentrations and time exposure on HepG2 cells

HepG2 cells were incubated in the absence (Ctrl) or the presence of Insulin (INS). (A) Cell viability after incubation of HepG2 cells with INS (0.01, 0.1, 1 and 10 nM) for (24, 48 and 72 h). (B) The glucose uptake after incubation with INS (0.01, 0.1, and 1 nM) for 24 and 48 h) expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for protein content.Values are mean  $\pm$  S.D. from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance between groups was assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's test. Symbols: Ctrl vs INS cells \*p $\leq$  0.05, \*\*p $\leq$ 0.01, \*\*\*\*p $\leq$ 0.0001

5.3.3. Effects of hyperinsulinemia and fatty acid excess on developing IR HepG2 cells When the glucose uptake was assessed in HepG2 cells exposed to insulin (1 nM) for 48 h or OP for 3 h (after 3 hr the media was changed to DMEM supplemented with 0.4% FBS and collected after 48 h) or OP for 3 h followed by insulin (1 nM) for 48 h (Figure 5-4A) we observed OP or insulin exposure alone triggered a similar reduction in glucose uptake (-25%;  $p\leq 0.05$ ), however OP followed by insulin treatment triggered the maximal efficacy in glucose uptake reduction (-37%;  $p\leq 0.01$ ).

When we evaluated the intracellular glycogen content (Figure 5-4B), we could appreciate as the exposure to excess FFAs didn't change glycogen content, whereas the insulin 1nM was able to significantly decrease it (-17%, p $\leq$ 0.05).



Figure 5- 4 Comparative analyses between hyperinsulinemia and lipid accumulation to induced insulin resistance

HepG2 cells were incubated in the absence (Ctrl) or the presence of oleate/palmitate (OP) for 3 h or with 1 nM insulin for 48 h. (A) The glucose uptake expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for protein content. (B) The intracellular glycogen content expressed as percent relative to control after normalization for protein content.Values are mean  $\pm$  S.D. from at least three independent experiments. Statistical significance between groups was assessed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's test. Symbols: Ctrl vs OP or INS cells \*p $\leq$  0.05

#### 5.4. Discussion

Metabolic disorders such as obesity, diabetes mellitus, insulin resistance, steatosis and cardiovascular disease pose a significant health risk in today's world. However, the advancement of understanding their root causes and developing effective treatments is constrained due to the absence of suitable human model systems [185]. Drawing from the shortcomings of animal models, an array of human cell and tissue models has emerged. These encompass 2D immortalized cell lines, patient-derived xenografts, stem cell-derived cell types, and organoids. Each model offers unique advantages and disadvantages in its application [186]. The present study reports our design to develop and define insulin resistance model using human hepatoma cells (HepG2) to be used in our lab for further invesitgations. Moroever, our findings showed that insulin resistance can be developed either by hyperinsulinemia or lipid accumulation which in the future can both be used depending on the purpose of the study to be done.

In our lab a set of different models were designed and developed using different cell lines. Mice 3T3-L1 fibroblasts were used to develop adipocytes hypertrophy [187], rat hepatoma FaO cells were used to develop liver steatosis [188] and human endotheilial cells were used to develop endothelial dysfunctional cells [124]. Taking into account that insulin resistance can lead to various metabolic issues such as hyperglycemia, hypertension, dyslipidemia, hyperuricemia, higher levels of inflammatory markers, endothelial dysfunction, and a tendency toward blood clot formation (prothrombotic state) [86], [171], [189], [190], it was of our intereset to study and investigate insulin resistance and possible treatment or prevention by natural products derived from plant extracts.

Hyperinsulinemia, marked by elevated insulin levels, is influenced by a complex interplay of genetic factors, demonstrated through heritability and family clustering [191]. Also, environmental contributors, such as excessive nutrient consumption and exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals, contribute to this condition [192], and through homologous

desensitization hyperinsulinemia develops IR [193]. IR is known to inhibit glucose uptake by cells from blood resulting in high levels of circulating glucose [85]. In our study insulin resistant HepG2 cells were defined and established using 1 nM insulin for 48 h, this successful establishment was illustrated by a significant reduction in glucose uptake a major response to insulin by cells. Indeed development of IR through hyperinsulinemia likely occurs through various mechanisms, including the downregulation of the insulin receptor [193], increased expression or activity of protein tyrosine phosphatases that can deactivate the receptor or its substrates [194], or the activation of phosphoinositide phosphatases like PTEN, SHIP2, or myotubularin, which lower the levels of signaling phosphoinositide's [195] that can be of interest to be studied during investigations for a suitable treatments.

In addition to hyperinsulinemia it was reported that palmitate induces insulin resistance in HepG2 cells [196]. Hepatic steatosis is widly validated and used in our lab using rat hepatoma FaO cells, so we tried to develop steatosis in HepG2 cells since they have human source using the same oleate and palmitate mixture with the same concentrations as we use for FaO cells [145] (0.75 mM with molar ratio 2:1). It was validated that steatosis can be developed after 2 and 3 hours of incubation as it was proved by significant increase in intracellular triglyceride accumulation, however we chosed 3 h for our model to be in parallel with our FaO model. Moreover, the same time and concentration of OP incubation proved to develop insulin resistant HepG2 cells as demonstrated by significant reduce in glucose uptake.

Lasltly by comparing the two conditions that led to insulin resistance both lipid accumulation and hyperinsulinemia were able to induce insulin resistance in the same manner and efficacy however combining the two conditions triggered more potent reaponse. Glycogen synthesis plays a significant role in the response to insulin, and impaired glycogen synthesis is a substantial factor in insulin resistance [197]. In this study we compared the glycogen content in both models hyperinsulinbemia and lipid accumulation. The results indicated that indeed hyperinsulinemia develop insulin reistance by decreasing glycogen content inside the cells which is expected since glycogen synthetase activity in decreased during insulin resistance [198]. By contrast lipid accumulation didn't show any significant difference in glycogen content, in litrature it was reported that lipid accumulation decrease glycogen accumulation [199], our results can be due to the fact that our assay lacks specificity since it is not enzymatic and lipids mainly triglycerides reacts with potassioum hydroxide, ethanol and sulfuric acids producing glycerol and glycerols products that can interfere with the results.

In conclusion, the developed model using HepG2 cells offers a versatile platform for studying the effects of natural products, particularly polyphenols from medicinal plants, on insulin resistance.

### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Elaria Faraone and Francesca Torre for their help during the experimental assays.

## Funding

This work was supported by grants from the University of Genova (FRA 2020). Part of this work benefits of the PRIMA 2022-B4HT\_Prima 2022\_00124 "Box for Health by Tradition & Innovation: promoting sustainable mediterranean diet by Healthy Foods Progetto" (CUP D33C22002150007).

# **Conclusions**

The primary research interest of my PhD activity was focused on investigating the possible beneficial effects and therapeutic potential of both the extracts and the main bioactive compounds prepared from the fruits of the medicinal plant *Sarcopoterium spinosum (L.)*. This small, thorny shrub belonging to the Rosaceae family is diffuse in various countries surrounding the Mediterranean Sea, including parts of Europe, North Africa, and the Middle East. My research investigated the potential of bioactive compounds contained in the *S. spinosum* fruits in the treatment and/or prevention of obesity-related disorders, especially the hepatic steatosis and endothelium dysfunction.

The journey began with the collection of *S. spinosum* fruits from their natural habitat in Lebanon, followed by the preparation of different extracts using different solvents – water, boiling water, and ethanol- and their characterization in terms of polyphenol, flavonoid and carbohydrate content. Among the extracts, the ethanol extract stood out with remarkable radical scavenging activity, prompting further investigation through HPLC/MS techniques. The phenolome of the ethanolic extract revealed a rich and complex profile being prominently characterized by ellagitannins, triterpenes, and flavonoids; corilagin and quercetin were identified as the most significant components.

The *S. spinosum* ethanol extract demonstrated a direct lipid-lowering activity on a cellular model of hepatic steatosis consisting of lipid-loaded FaO cells. The extract was able to significantly reduce the intracellular triglyceride accumulation as well as the size and number of lipid droplets. Additionally, the extract showcased its capacity to mitigate the fat-dependent oxidative stress by decreasing the ROS production and the lipid peroxidation, and restoring the catalase activity.

On the other hand, the *S. spinosum* ethanol extract was able to improve the endothelial dysfunction in a cellular model consisting of HECV cells exposed to hydrogen peroxide. Both

the ethanol extract, as well as corilagin and quercetin, the main polyphenols contained in the extract, exhibited substantial protective and counteractive effects. These effects included a reduction in ROS production and lipid peroxidation, as well as the restoration of nitric oxide bioavailability and the GSH/GSSG ratio. Moreover, both the extract and the two polyphenols showed a notable ability in accelerating the wound healing process.

Ongoing efforts involved the development of an insulin resistance cellular model using human HepG2 cells. Preliminary findings indicate the successful induction of insulin resistance, and this cellular model holds promise for unraveling the involved mechanisms of insulin resistance, offering a potential avenue for targeted studies on interventions using natural products. This model is now employed to assess the ability of the *S. spinosum* extract in improving the insulin resistance thus enlarging its potential therapeutic intervention.

In conclusion, this comprehensive exploration of *S. spinosum* fruits, marks the first and initial characterization of the entire phenolome within its ethanol extract. The analysis reveals a rich abundance of polyphenols, with ellagitannins emerging as the predominant group, trailed by triterpenes and flavonoids. Additionally, the extract and its individual polyphenolic constituents, namely corilagin and quercetin, substantiated their *in vitro* efficacy in reducing lipid levels, demonstrating anti-inflammatory properties, showcasing potent antioxidant capabilities, and confirming cyto-protective abilities.

The findings of this thesis sheds light on understanding the direct action of the bioactive compounds enrichening the *S. spinosum* fruits taking advantage of simplified *in vitro* models of some important human metabolic disorders, such as fatty liver and cardiovascular diseases, and insulin resistance. Moreover, the results set the stage for potential *in vivo* applications of *S. spinosum* fruit extracts as nutraceutical agents for treatment and/or prevention of metabolic disorders in humans. Ultimately, I am satisfied of my thesis as I think it supplies a significant scientific contribution to the field of natural remedies and phototherapies for treatment of

human metabolic disorders, offering a foundation for continued exploration and potential applications in clinical settings.

# **Bibliography**

- S. Y. Pan *et al.*, "Historical perspective of traditional indigenous medical practices: The current renaissance and conservation of herbal resources," *Evidence-based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, vol. 2014. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med, 2014. doi: 10.1155/2014/525340.
- [2] I. Charles and A. Chaar, "Medicinal Plants of Lebanon," Archaeol. Hist. Lebanon, no. 19, 2004.
- [3] A. Chevalier, *Encyclopedia of Herbal Medicine*, 3rd edi. DK Publishing, New York, 2016.
- [4] F. Jamshidi-Kia, Z. Lorigooini, and H. Amini-Khoei, "Medicinal plants: Past history and future perspective," *J. Herbmed Pharmacol.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–7, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.15171/JHP.2018.01.
- [5] R. S. Solecki, "Shanidar IV, a Neanderthal Flower Burial in Northern Iraq," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 190, no. 4217, pp. 880–881, Nov. 1975, doi: 10.1126/SCIENCE.190.4217.880.
- [6] J. Sumner, *The natural history of medicinal plants*. Timber Press, 2000.
- [7] A. G. Atanasov *et al.*, "Discovery and resupply of pharmacologically active plant-derived natural products: A review," *Biotechnol. Adv.*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 1582–1614, 2015, doi: 10.1016/J.BIOTECHADV.2015.08.001.
- [8] R. N. Bennet and R. M. Wallsgrove, "Secondary metabolites in plant defence mechanisms," *New Phytol.*, vol. 127, no. 4, pp. 617–633, 1994, doi: 10.1111/J.1469-8137.1994.TB02968.X.
- J. Wang *et al.*, "Production of Active Compounds in Medicinal Plants: From Plant Tissue Culture to Biosynthesis," *Chinese Herb. Med.*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 115–125, Apr. 2017, doi: 10.1016/S1674-6384(17)60085-6.
- M. Olivares-Vicente *et al.*, "Plant-Derived Polyphenols in Human Health: Biological Activity, Metabolites and Putative Molecular Targets," *Curr. Drug Metab.*, vol. 19, no. 4, Feb. 2018, doi: 10.2174/1389200219666180220095236.
- C. Forni *et al.*, "Beneficial Role of Phytochemicals on Oxidative Stress and Age-Related Diseases," *Biomed Res. Int.*, vol. 2019, 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/8748253.
- [12] V. Patel and R. N. Patel, "The active constituents of herbs and their plant chemistry, extraction and identification methods," *J. Chem. Pharm. Res.*, 2016.
- [13] A. Altemimi, N. Lakhssassi, A. Baharlouei, D. G. Watson, and D. A. Lightfoot, "Phytochemicals: Extraction, Isolation, and Identification of Bioactive Compounds from Plant Extracts," *Plants 2017*, *Vol. 6, Page 42*, vol. 6, no. 4, p. 42, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.3390/PLANTS6040042.
- [14] R. M. Cowling, P. W. Rundel, B. B. Lamont, M. K. Arroyo, and M. Arianoutsou, "Plant diversity in mediterranean-climate regions," *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 362–366, Sep. 1996, doi: 10.1016/0169-5347(96)10044-6.

- [15] S. Baydoun, L. Chalak, H. Dalleh, and N. Arnold, "Ethnopharmacological survey of medicinal plants used in traditional medicine by the communities of Mount Hermon, Lebanon," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 173, pp. 139–156, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.1016/J.JEP.2015.06.052.
- [16] H. Kallassy *et al.*, "Chemical Composition and Antioxidant, Anti-Inflammatory, and Antiproliferative Activities of Lebanese Ephedra Campylopoda Plant," *Med. Sci. Monit. Basic Res.*, vol. 23, pp. 313–325, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.12659/MSMBR.905056.
- [17] Y. Bai, H. Liu, K. Zhu, and Z. M. Cheng, "Evolution and functional analysis of the GRAS family genes in six Rosaceae species," *BMC Plant Biol.*, vol. 22, no. 1, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1186/S12870-022-03925-X.
- [18] M. Li, Y. Xiao, S. Mount, and Z. Liu, "An Atlas of Genomic Resources for Studying Rosaceae Fruits and Ornamentals," *Front. Plant Sci.*, vol. 12, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.3389/FPLS.2021.644881.
- [19] V. Shulaev *et al.*, "Multiple models for Rosaceae genomics," *Plant Physiol.*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 985–1003, 2008, doi: 10.1104/PP.107.115618.
- [20] P. Soundararajan, S. Y. Won, and J. S. Kim, "Insight on Rosaceae Family with Genome Sequencing and Functional Genomics Perspective," *Biomed Res. Int.*, vol. 2019, 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/7519687.
- [21] W. M. Mazur, M. Uehara, K. Wähälä, and H. Adlercreutz, "Phyto-oestrogen content of berries, and plasma concentrationsand urinary excretion of enterolactone after asingle strawberry-meal in human subjects," *Br. J. Nutr.*, vol. 83, no. 4, pp. 381–387, 2000, doi: 10.1017/S0007114500000489.
- [22] Z. Henkin, T. Rosenzweig, and Z. Yaniv, "Sarcopoterium spinosum," in *Medicinal and Aromatic Plants of the Middle-East. Medicinal and Aromatic Plants of the World, vol 2.*, Springer, Dordrecht, 2014, pp. 151–161. doi: 10.1007/978-94-017-9276-9\_7.
- [23] A. Piras *et al.*, "Evaluation of antioxidant and tyrosinase inhibitory activities of the extracts of Sarcopoterium spinosum (L.) Spach fruits," *Nat. Prod. Res.*, vol. 31, no. 24, pp. 2900–2904, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1080/14786419.2017.1297994.
- [24] Y. Kitahiro, H. Ikeda, H. T. Im, E. Kodaira, and M. Shibano, "Phytochemical characterization of Rosa multiflora Thunb. (Rosaceae) in Japan and South Korea, with a focus on the bioactive flavonol glycoside 'multiflorin A," *J. Nat. Med.*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 555–565, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.1007/S11418-019-01302-X.
- [25] I. Aragüez, E. Cruz-Rus, M. Á. Botella, N. Medina-Escobar, and V. Valpuesta, "Proteomic analysis of strawberry achenes reveals active synthesis and recycling of L-ascorbic acid," *J. Proteomics*, vol. 83, pp. 160–179, May 2013, doi: 10.1016/J.JPROT.2013.03.016.
- [26] Y. Waitz *et al.*, "Close association between flowering time and aridity gradient for Sarcopoterium spinosum in Israel," *J. Arid Environ.*, vol. 188, p. 104468, May 2021, doi:

10.1016/J.JARIDENV.2021.104468.

- [27] A. Dafni, Z. Yaniv, and D. Palevitch, "Ethnobotanical survey of medicinal plants in northern Israel,"
  *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 295–310, 1984, doi: 10.1016/0378-8741(84)90017-5.
- [28] A. Al-Aboudi and F. U. Afifi, "Plants used for the treatment of diabetes in Jordan: A review of scientific evidence," *Pharm. Biol.*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 221–239, Mar. 2011, doi: 10.3109/13880209.2010.501802.
- [29] Z. Y. Bachrach, "Ethnobotanical studies of Sarcopoterium spinosum in Israel," *Isr. J. Plant Sci.*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 111–114, 2007, doi: 10.1560/IJPS.55.1.111.
- [30] J. Friedman, Z. Yaniv, A. Dafni, and D. Palewitch, "A preliminary classification of the healing potential of medicinal plants, based on a rational analysis of an ethnopharmacological field survey among Bedouins in the Negev desert, Israel," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 16, no. 2–3, pp. 275–287, 1986, doi: 10.1016/0378-8741(86)90094-2.
- [31] A. Wollman, T. Daniel, and T. Rosenzweig, "Sarcopoterium spinosum Inhibited the Development of Non-Alcoholic Steatosis and Steatohepatitis in Mice," *Nutrients*, vol. 11, no. 12, Dec. 2019, doi: 10.3390/NU11123044.
- [32] K. Rozenberg and T. Rosenzweig, "Sarcopoterium spinosum extract improved insulin sensitivity in mice models of glucose intolerance and diabetes," *PLoS One*, vol. 13, no. 5, May 2018, doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0196736.
- [33] P. Smirin *et al.*, "Sarcopoterium spinosum extract as an antidiabetic agent: In vitro and in vivo study,"
  *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 129, no. 1, pp. 10–17, May 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2010.02.021.
- [34] K. Rozenberg, P. Smirin, S. R. Sampson, and T. Rosenzweig, "Insulin-sensitizing and insulinmimetic activities of Sarcopoterium spinosum extract," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 155, no. 1, pp. 362– 372, Aug. 2014, doi: 10.1016/J.JEP.2014.05.030.
- [35] K. Rozenberg, A. Wollman, M. Ben-Shachar, L. Argaev-Frenkel, and T. Rosenzweig, "Antiinflammatory effects of Sarcopoterium spinosum extract," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 249, p. 112391, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.JEP.2019.112391.
- [36] M. Ben-Shachar, K. Rozenberg, N. Skalka, A. Wollman, M. Michlin, and T. Rosenzweig,
  "Activation of Insulin Signaling in Adipocytes and Myotubes by Sarcopoterium Spinosum Extract," *Nutrients*, vol. 11, no. 6, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.3390/NU11061396.
- [37] U. Elyasiyan *et al.*, "Anti-diabetic activity of aerial parts of Sarcopoterium spinosum," *BMC Complement. Altern. Med.*, vol. 17, no. 1, Jul. 2017, doi: 10.1186/S12906-017-1860-7.
- [38] J. Hudec *et al.*, "In vitro cytotoxic effects of secondary metabolites present in sarcopoterium spinosum L.," *Appl. Sci.*, vol. 11, no. 11, p. 5300, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.3390/APP11115300/S1.

- [39] F. Zakir, S. Mohapatra, U. Farooq, M. A. Mirza, and Z. Iqbal, "Introduction to metabolic disorders," *Drug Deliv. Syst. Metab. Disord.*, pp. 1–20, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-323-99616-7.00001-3.
- Y. Rochlani, N. V. Pothineni, S. Kovelamudi, and J. L. Mehta, "Metabolic syndrome: pathophysiology, management, and modulation by natural compounds," *Ther. Adv. Cardiovasc. Dis.*, vol. 11, no. 8, p. 215, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1177/1753944717711379.
- [41] P. Paschos and K. Paletas, "Non alcoholic fatty liver disease and metabolic syndrome," *Hippokratia*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 9, 2009, doi: 10.31032/ijbpas/2021/10.1.1009.
- [42] S. O'Neill and L. O'Driscoll, "Metabolic syndrome: a closer look at the growing epidemic and its associated pathologies," *Obes. Rev.*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 1–12, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1111/OBR.12229.
- [43] P. D. Gluckman, M. A. Hanson, T. Buklijas, F. M. Low, and A. S. Beedle, "Epigenetic mechanisms that underpin metabolic and cardiovascular diseases," *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 401– 408, Jul. 2009, doi: 10.1038/NRENDO.2009.102.
- [44] A. K. Chen, C. K. Roberts, and R. J. Barnard, "Effect of a short-term diet and exercise intervention on metabolic syndrome in overweight children," *Metabolism*, vol. 55, no. 7, pp. 871–878, Jul. 2006, doi: 10.1016/J.METABOL.2006.03.001.
- [45] D. E. Moller, "New drug targets for type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome," *Nature*, vol. 414, no. 6865, pp. 821–827, Dec. 2001, doi: 10.1038/414821A.
- [46] A. Sofowora, "Research on medicinal plants and traditional medicine in Africa," J. Altern. Complement. Med., vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 365–372, 1996, doi: 10.1089/ACM.1996.2.365.
- [47] S. Pouwels *et al.*, "Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): a review of pathophysiology, clinical management and effects of weight loss," *BMC Endocr. Disord.*, vol. 22, no. 1, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1186/S12902-022-00980-1.
- [48] Z. Younossi *et al.*, "Global burden of NAFLD and NASH: trends, predictions, risk factors and prevention," *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 11–20, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1038/NRGASTRO.2017.109.
- [49] M. Marušić, M. Paić, M. Knobloch, and A. M. Liberati Pršo, "NAFLD, Insulin Resistance, and Diabetes Mellitus Type 2," *Can. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*, vol. 2021, 2021, doi: 10.1155/2021/6613827.
- [50] P. Sharma and A. Arora, "Clinical presentation of alcoholic liver disease and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: spectrum and diagnosis," *Transl. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*, vol. 5, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.21037/TGH.2019.10.02.
- [51] E. Buzzetti, M. Pinzani, and E. A. Tsochatzis, "The multiple-hit pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)," *Metabolism*, vol. 65, no. 8, pp. 1038–1048, Aug. 2016, doi:

10.1016/J.METABOL.2015.12.012.

- [52] Y. Kawano and D. E. Cohen, "Mechanisms of hepatic triglyceride accumulation in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease," J. Gastroenterol., vol. 48, no. 4, p. 434, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1007/S00535-013-0758-5.
- [53] L. A. Videla *et al.*, "Oxidative stress-related parameters in the liver of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease patients," *Clin. Sci. (Lond).*, vol. 106, no. 3, pp. 261–268, Mar. 2004, doi: 10.1042/CS20030285.
- [54] A. P. Delli Bovi, F. Marciano, C. Mandato, M. A. Siano, M. Savoia, and P. Vajro, "Oxidative Stress in Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. An Updated Mini Review," *Frontiers in Medicine*, vol. 8. Front Med (Lausanne), Feb. 26, 2021. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.595371.
- [55] C. Luci, M. Bourinet, P. S. Leclère, R. Anty, and P. Gual, "Chronic Inflammation in Non-Alcoholic Steatohepatitis: Molecular Mechanisms and Therapeutic Strategies," *Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne).*, vol. 11, p. 597648, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.3389/FENDO.2020.597648/BIBTEX.
- [56] M. S. Kwak and D. Kim, "Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and lifestyle modifications, focusing on physical activity," *Korean J. Intern. Med.*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 64–74, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.3904/KJIM.2017.343.
- [57] M. Bagherniya, V. Nobili, C. N. Blesso, and A. Sahebkar, "Medicinal plants and bioactive natural compounds in the treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A clinical review," *Pharmacol. Res.*, vol. 130, pp. 213–240, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.PHRS.2017.12.020.
- [58] A. Krüger-Genge, A. Blocki, R. P. Franke, and F. Jung, "Vascular Endothelial Cell Biology: An Update," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 20, no. 18, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.3390/IJMS20184411.
- [59] H. F. Galley and N. R. Webster, "Physiology of the endothelium," *Br. J. Anaesth.*, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 105–113, Jul. 2004, doi: 10.1093/BJA/AEH163.
- [60] M. Mudau, A. Genis, A. Lochner, and H. Strijdom, "Endothelial dysfunction: the early predictor of atherosclerosis," *Cardiovasc. J. Afr.*, vol. 23, no. 4, p. 222, May 2012, doi: 10.5830/CVJA-2011-068.
- [61] V. W. M. Van Hinsbergh, "Endothelium--role in regulation of coagulation and inflammation," *Semin. Immunopathol.*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 93–106, Jan. 2012, doi: 10.1007/S00281-011-0285-5.
- [62] D. H. Endemann and E. L. Schiffrin, "Endothelial dysfunction," J. Am. Soc. Nephrol., vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 1983–1992, Aug. 2004, doi: 10.1097/01.ASN.0000132474.50966.DA.
- [63] M. Mittal, M. R. Siddiqui, K. Tran, S. P. Reddy, and A. B. Malik, "Reactive oxygen species in inflammation and tissue injury," *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 1126–1167, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1089/ARS.2012.5149.
- [64] J. K. Liao, "Linking endothelial dysfunction with endothelial cell activation," J. Clin. Invest., vol.

123, no. 2, pp. 540-541, Feb. 2013, doi: 10.1172/JCI66843.

- [65] A. C. Bulua *et al.*, "Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species promote production of proinflammatory cytokines and are elevated in TNFR1-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS)," *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 208, no. 3, pp. 519–533, Mar. 2011, doi: 10.1084/JEM.20102049.
- [66] R. Zhou, A. S. Yazdi, P. Menu, and J. Tschopp, "A role for mitochondria in NLRP3 inflammasome activation," *Nat. 2010 4697329*, vol. 469, no. 7329, pp. 221–225, Dec. 2010, doi: 10.1038/nature09663.
- [67] U. Förstermann and T. Münzel, "Endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular disease: from marvel to menace," *Circulation*, vol. 113, no. 13, pp. 1708–1714, Apr. 2006, doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.602532.
- [68] C. Szabó and K. Módis, "Pathophysiological roles of peroxynitrite in circulatory shock," *Shock*, vol. 34, no. 0 1, p. 4, Sep. 2010, doi: 10.1097/SHK.0B013E3181E7E9BA.
- [69] Y. M. Yang, A. Huang, G. Kaley, and D. Sun, "eNOS uncoupling and endothelial dysfunction in aged vessels," *Am. J. Physiol. - Hear. Circ. Physiol.*, vol. 297, no. 5, p. H1829, Nov. 2009, doi: 10.1152/AJPHEART.00230.2009.
- [70] K. Dharmashankar and M. E. Widlansky, "Vascular endothelial function and hypertension: insights and directions," *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 448–455, Dec. 2010, doi: 10.1007/S11906-010-0150-2.
- [71] N. Toda and M. Nakanishi-Toda, "How mental stress affects endothelial function," *Pflugers Arch.*, vol. 462, no. 6, pp. 779–794, Dec. 2011, doi: 10.1007/S00424-011-1022-6.
- [72] A. Soultati *et al.*, "Endothelial vascular toxicity from chemotherapeutic agents: preclinical evidence and clinical implications," *Cancer Treat. Rev.*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 473–483, Aug. 2012, doi: 10.1016/J.CTRV.2011.09.002.
- [73] M. S. Rahman *et al.*, "Role of Insulin in Health and Disease: An Update," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 22, no. 12, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.3390/IJMS22126403.
- S. L. Aronoff, K. Berkowitz, B. Shreiner, and L. Want, "Glucose Metabolism and Regulation: Beyond Insulin and Glucagon," *Diabetes Spectr.*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 183–190, Jul. 2004, doi: 10.2337/DIASPECT.17.3.183.
- [75] C. K. Roberts, A. L. Hevener, and R. J. Barnard, "Metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance: underlying causes and modification by exercise training," *Compr. Physiol.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 1–58, 2013, doi: 10.1002/CPHY.C110062.
- [76] G. Wilcox, "Insulin and Insulin Resistance," *Clin. Biochem. Rev.*, vol. 26, no. 2, p. 19, 2005, Accessed: Dec. 11, 2023. [Online]. Available: /pmc/articles/PMC1204764/

- [77] M. E. Cerf, "Beta Cell Dysfunction and Insulin Resistance," *Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne).*, vol. 4, no. MAR, 2013, doi: 10.3389/FENDO.2013.00037.
- [78] B. Di Camillo, A. Carlon, F. Eduati, and G. M. Toffolo, "A rule-based model of insulin signalling pathway," *BMC Syst. Biol.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–13, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.1186/S12918-016-0281-4/TABLES/2.
- [79] R. A. Haeusler, T. E. McGraw, and D. Accili, "Biochemical and cellular properties of insulin receptor signalling," *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 31–44, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1038/NRM.2017.89.
- [80] T. G. Boulton *et al.*, "ERKs: a family of protein-serine/threonine kinases that are activated and tyrosine phosphorylated in response to insulin and NGF," *Cell*, vol. 65, no. 4, pp. 663–675, May 1991, doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90098-J.
- [81] K. D. Copps and M. F. White, "Regulation of insulin sensitivity by serine/threonine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate proteins IRS1 and IRS2," *Diabetol. 2012 5510*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 2565– 2582, Aug. 2012, doi: 10.1007/S00125-012-2644-8.
- [82] H. Xu *et al.*, "Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance," *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 112, no. 12, pp. 1821–1830, Dec. 2003, doi: 10.1172/JCI19451.
- [83] G. S. Hotamisligil, "Mechanisms of TNF-alpha-induced insulin resistance," *Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 119–125, 1999, doi: 10.1055/S-0029-1212086.
- [84] B. Cohen, D. Novick, and M. Rubinstein, "Modulation of Insulin Activities by Leptin," *Science (80-.*)., vol. 274, no. 5290, pp. 1185–1188, Nov. 1996, doi: 10.1126/SCIENCE.274.5290.1185.
- [85] V. Ormazabal, S. Nair, O. Elfeky, C. Aguayo, C. Salomon, and F. A. Zuñiga, "Association between insulin resistance and the development of cardiovascular disease," *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.*, vol. 17, no. 1, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1186/S12933-018-0762-4.
- [86] P. Bjornstad and R. H. Eckel, "Pathogenesis of Lipid Disorders in Insulin Resistance: A Brief Review," *Curr. Diab. Rep.*, vol. 18, no. 12, p. 127, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1007/S11892-018-1101-6.
- [87] E. Grasselli, L. Canesi, P. Portincasa, A. Voci, L. Vergani, and I. Demori, "Models of non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Potential Translational Value: the Effects of 3,5-L-diiodothyronine," *Ann. Hepatol.*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 707–719, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.5604/01.3001.0010.2713.
- [88] E. Grasselli *et al.*, "Non-receptor-mediated actions are responsible for the lipid-lowering effects of iodothyronines in FaO rat hepatoma cells," *J. Endocrinol.*, vol. 210, no. 1, pp. 59–69, Jul. 2011, doi: 10.1530/JOE-11-0074.
- [89] M. Leonti et al., "Reverse ethnopharmacology and drug discovery," J. Ethnopharmacol., vol. 198,

pp. 417-431, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2016.12.044.

- [90] R. K. Singla *et al.*, "Natural Polyphenols: Chemical Classification, Definition of Classes, Subcategories, and Structures," *J. AOAC Int.*, vol. 102, no. 5, pp. 1397–1400, 2019, doi: 10.5740/JAOACINT.19-0133.
- [91] M. T. García-Conesa and M. Larrosa, "Polyphenol-Rich Foods for Human Health and Disease," *Nutrients*, vol. 12, no. 2, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.3390/NU12020400.
- [92] R. Tsao, "Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols," *Nutrients*, vol. 2, no. 12, pp. 1231–1246, 2010, doi: 10.3390/NU2121231.
- [93] Z. M. Younossi, "Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease A global public health perspective," *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 531–544, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1016/J.JHEP.2018.10.033.
- [94] C. D. Byrne and G. Targher, "NAFLD: a multisystem disease," *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 62, no. 1 Suppl, pp. S47–S64, 2015, doi: 10.1016/J.JHEP.2014.12.012.
- [95] M. Bagherniya, V. Nobili, C. N. Blesso, and A. Sahebkar, "Medicinal plants and bioactive natural compounds in the treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A clinical review," *Pharmacol. Res.*, vol. 130, pp. 213–240, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.PHRS.2017.12.020.
- [96] V. L. Singleton and J. A. Rossi, "Colorimetry of Total Phenolics with Phosphomolybdic-Phosphotungstic Acid Reagents," *Am. J. Enol. Vitic.*, vol. 16, no. 3, 1965.
- [97] S. Ivanović et al., "Chemical Composition, Total Phenols and Flavonoids Contents and Antioxidant Activity as Nutritive Potential of Roasted Hazelnut Skins (Corylus avellana L.)," Foods (Basel, Switzerland), vol. 9, no. 4, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.3390/FOODS9040430.
- [98] M. M. Bradford, "A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding," *Anal. Biochem.*, vol. 72, no. 1–2, pp. 248–254, May 1976, doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3.
- [99] R. Re, N. Pellegrini, A. Proteggente, A. Pannala, M. Yang, and C. Rice-Evans, "Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 26, no. 9–10, pp. 1231–1237, May 1999, doi: 10.1016/S0891-5849(98)00315-3.
- [100] W. Brand-Williams, M. E. Cuvelier, and C. Berset, "Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity," *LWT - Food Sci. Technol.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 25–30, Jan. 1995, doi: 10.1016/S0023-6438(95)80008-5.
- [101] I. F. F. Benzie and J. J. Strain, "The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of 'antioxidant power': the FRAP assay," *Anal. Biochem.*, vol. 239, no. 1, pp. 70–76, Jul. 1996, doi: 10.1006/ABIO.1996.0292.
- [102] P. F. P. Santos et al., "Polyphenol and triterpenoid constituents of eugenia Florida dc. (myrtaceae)
leaves and their antioxidant and cytotoxic potential," *Quim. Nova*, vol. 41, no. 10, pp. 1140–1149, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.21577/0100-4042.20170284.

- T. Mosmann, "Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: Application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays," *J. Immunol. Methods*, vol. 65, no. 1–2, pp. 55–63, Dec. 1983, doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(83)90303-4.
- [104] G. Vecchione *et al.*, "Silybin counteracts lipid excess and oxidative stress in cultured steatotic hepatic cells," *World J. Gastroenterol.*, vol. 22, no. 26, pp. 6016–6026, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.3748/WJG.V22.I26.6016.
- [105] F. Baldini *et al.*, "Relationship between Liver Stiffness and Steatosis in Obesity Conditions: In Vivo and In Vitro Studies," *Biomolecules*, vol. 12, no. 5, May 2022, doi: 10.3390/BIOM12050733.
- [106] J. Schindelin *et al.*, "Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis," *Nat. Methods*, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 676–682, Jul. 2012, doi: 10.1038/NMETH.2019.
- [107] B. Halliwell and M. Whiteman, "Measuring reactive species and oxidative damage in vivo and in cell culture: how should you do it and what do the results mean?," *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 142, no. 2, pp. 231–255, May 2004, doi: 10.1038/SJ.BJP.0705776.
- [108] H. Iguchi, S. Kojo, and M. Ikeda, "Lipid peroxidation and disintegration of the cell membrane structure in cultures of rat lung fibroblasts treated with asbestos," *J. Appl. Toxicol.*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 269–275, 1993, doi: 10.1002/JAT.2550130409.
- [109] H. Aebi, "Catalase in vitro," *Methods Enzymol.*, vol. 105, no. C, pp. 121–126, Jan. 1984, doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(84)05016-3.
- [110] H. Sies, "Oxidative stress: a concept in redox biology and medicine," *Redox Biol.*, vol. 4, pp. 180–183, Apr. 2015, doi: 10.1016/J.REDOX.2015.01.002.
- [111] M. S. Ali-Shtayeh, Z. Yaniv, and J. Mahajna, "Ethnobotanical survey in the Palestinian area: A classification of the healing potential of medicinal plants," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 73, no. 1–2, pp. 221–232, 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0378-8741(00)00316-0.
- [112] M. Serafini and I. Peluso, "Functional Foods for Health: The Interrelated Antioxidant and Anti-Inflammatory Role of Fruits, Vegetables, Herbs, Spices and Cocoa in Humans," *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, vol. 22, no. 44, pp. 6701–6715, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.2174/1381612823666161123094235.
- [113] Y. Cai, Q. Luo, M. Sun, and H. Corke, "Antioxidant activity and phenolic compounds of 112 traditional Chinese medicinal plants associated with anticancer," *Life Sci.*, vol. 74, no. 17, pp. 2157– 2184, Mar. 2004, doi: 10.1016/J.LFS.2003.09.047.
- [114] C. A. Rice-Evans, N. J. Miller, and G. Paganga, "Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 933–956, Jan. 1996, doi:

10.1016/0891-5849(95)02227-9.

- [115] A. K. Kiss and J. P. Piwowarski, "Ellagitannins, Gallotannins and their Metabolites- The Contribution to the Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Food Products and Medicinal Plants," *Curr. Med. Chem.*, vol. 25, no. 37, pp. 4946–4967, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.2174/0929867323666160919111559.
- [116] H. S. Nandini and P. R. Naik, "Action of corilagin on hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia and oxidative stress in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats," *Chem. Biol. Interact.*, vol. 299, pp. 186–193, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.1016/J.CBI.2018.12.012.
- [117] C. F. B. Rodrigues *et al.*, "Evaluation of the Inhibitory Potential of Casuarictin, an Ellagitannin Isolated from White Mangrove (Laguncularia racemosa) Leaves, on Snake Venom Secretory Phospholipase A2," *Mar. Drugs*, vol. 17, no. 7, 2019, doi: 10.3390/MD17070403.
- [118] M. Kim *et al.*, "Anti-Acne Vulgaris Effects of Pedunculagin from the Leaves of Quercus mongolica by Anti-Inflammatory Activity and 5α-Reductase Inhibition," *Molecules*, vol. 25, no. 9, May 2020, doi: 10.3390/MOLECULES25092154.
- [119] A. R. Arauljo, A. C. Arauljo, R. L. Reis, and R. A. Pires, "Vescalagin and Castalagin Present Bactericidal Activity toward Methicillin-Resistant Bacteria," ACS Biomater. Sci. Eng., vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 1022–1030, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1021/ACSBIOMATERIALS.0C01698.
- [120] D. Xu, M. J. Hu, Y. Q. Wang, and Y. L. Cui, "Antioxidant Activities of Quercetin and Its Complexes for Medicinal Application," *Molecules*, vol. 24, no. 6, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.3390/MOLECULES24061123.
- [121] G. Reher, G. Reznicek, and A. Baumann, "Triterpenoids from Sarcopoterium spinosum and Sanguisorba minor," *Planta Med.*, vol. 57, no. 5, p. 506, 1991, doi: 10.1055/S-2006-960189.
- [122] J.-B. Wu, Y.-H. Kuo, C.-H. Lin, H.-Y. Ho, and C.-C. Shih, "Tormentic Acid, a Major Component of Suspension Cells of Eriobotrya japonica, Suppresses High-Fat Diet-Induced Diabetes and Hyperlipidemia by Glucose Transporter 4 and AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Phosphorylation," 2014, doi: 10.1021/jf503334d.
- [123] M. Olech, W. Ziemichód, and N. Nowacka-jechalke, "The Occurrence and Biological Activity of Tormentic Acid-A Review," *Molecules*, vol. 26, no. 13, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.3390/MOLECULES26133797.
- [124] M. Khalil *et al.*, "Antisteatotic and antioxidant activities of Thymbra spicata L. extracts in hepatic and endothelial cells as in vitro models of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 239, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1016/J.JEP.2019.111919.
- [125] Q. Liu, S. Bengmark, and S. Qu, "The role of hepatic fat accumulation in pathogenesis of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD)," *Lipids Health Dis.*, vol. 9, p. 42, Apr. 2010, doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-9-42.

- [126] G. Perlemuter *et al.*, "Increase in liver antioxidant enzyme activities in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease," *Liver Int.*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 946–953, Oct. 2005, doi: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2005.01126.x.
- [127] M. Shahwan and S. M. Z. Al Abdin, "Antioxidant, hepatoprotective and lipid lowering activity of sarcopoterium spinosum on carbon tetrachloride (Ccl4)-induced hepatic damage in rats," *J. Pharm. Sci. Res.*, vol. 10, no. 11, pp. 2800–2804, 2018.
- [128] L. L. Wang, Z. C. Zhang, W. Hassan, Y. Li, J. Liu, and J. Shang, "Amelioration of free fatty acidinduced fatty liver by quercetin-3-O-β-D-glucuronide through modulation of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-alpha/sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c signaling," *Hepatol. Res.*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 225–238, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.1111/HEPR.12557.
- [129] M. Navarro *et al.*, "Flavonoids and Ellagitannins Characterization, Antioxidant and Cytotoxic Activities of Phyllanthus acuminatus Vahl," *Plants*, vol. 6, no. 4, p. 62, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.3390/PLANTS6040062.
- [130] B. Gilbert and L. Alves, "Synergy in Plant Medicines," *Curr. Med. Chem.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 13–20, May 2005, doi: 10.2174/0929867033368583.
- [131] F. Diab, H. Zbeeb, F. Baldini, P. Portincasa, M. Khalil, and L. Vergani, "The Potential of Lamiaceae Herbs for Mitigation of Overweight, Obesity, and Fatty Liver: Studies and Perspectives," *Molecules*, vol. 27, no. 15, Aug. 2022, doi: 10.3390/MOLECULES27155043.
- [132] B. R. Clapp *et al.*, "Inflammation-induced endothelial dysfunction involves reduced nitric oxide bioavailability and increased oxidant stress," *Cardiovasc. Res.*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 172–178, Oct. 2004, doi: 10.1016/J.CARDIORES.2004.06.020.
- [133] S. Mahjoub and J. M. Roudsari, "Role of oxidative stress in pathogenesis of metabolic syndrome," *Casp. J. Intern. Med.*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. 386, Dec. 2012, Accessed: Nov. 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: /pmc/articles/PMC4600138/
- [134] J. Rons, A. Karina Aranda-Rivera, A. Cruz-Gregorio, Y. Lyzet Arancibia-Hernández, E. Yaquelin Hernández-Cruz, and J. Pedraza-Chaverri, "RONS and Oxidative Stress: An Overview of Basic Concepts," *Oxyg. 2022, Vol. 2, Pages 437-478*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 437–478, Oct. 2022, doi: 10.3390/OXYGEN2040030.
- [135] M. A. Mendez-Encinas *et al.*, "Anti-Inflammatory Potential of Seasonal Sonoran Propolis Extracts and Some of Their Main Constituents," *Molecules*, vol. 28, no. 11, Jun. 2023, doi: 10.3390/MOLECULES28114496.
- [136] S. Xu *et al.*, "Endothelial Dysfunction in Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Diseases and Beyond: From Mechanism to Pharmacotherapies," *Pharmacol. Rev.*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 924–967, 2021, doi: 10.1124/PHARMREV.120.000096.
- [137] D. Salisbury and U. Bronas, "Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species: impact on endothelial

dysfunction," *Nurs. Res.*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 53–66, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.1097/NNR.000000000000068.

- [138] M. A. Incalza, R. D'Oria, A. Natalicchio, S. Perrini, L. Laviola, and F. Giorgino, "Oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species in endothelial dysfunction associated with cardiovascular and metabolic diseases," *Vascul. Pharmacol.*, vol. 100, pp. 1–19, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.VPH.2017.05.005.
- [139] C. P. Domingueti, L. M. S. A. Dusse, M. D. G. Carvalho, L. P. De Sousa, K. B. Gomes, and A. P. Fernandes, "Diabetes mellitus: The linkage between oxidative stress, inflammation, hypercoagulability and vascular complications," *J. Diabetes Complications*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 738–745, May 2016, doi: 10.1016/J.JDIACOMP.2015.12.018.
- [140] P. Rajendran *et al.*, "The vascular endothelium and human diseases," *Int. J. Biol. Sci.*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 1057–1069, Nov. 2013, doi: 10.7150/IJBS.7502.
- [141] C. Di Lorenzo, F. Colombo, S. Biella, C. Stockley, and P. Restani, "Polyphenols and Human Health: The Role of Bioavailability," *Nutrients*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1–30, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.3390/NU13010273.
- [142] M. D. Di Mauro *et al.*, "Polyphenolic Fraction from Olive Mill Wastewater: Scale-Up and in Vitro Studies for Ophthalmic Nutraceutical Applications," *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, vol. 8, no. 10, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.3390/ANTIOX8100462.
- [143] I. C. W. Arts and P. C. H. Hollman, "Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic studies," Am. J. Clin. Nutr., vol. 81, no. 1 Suppl, 2005, doi: 10.1093/AJCN/81.1.317S.
- [144] B. A. Graf, P. E. Milbury, and J. B. Blumberg, "Flavonols, flavones, flavanones, and human health: epidemiological evidence," *J. Med. Food*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 281–290, Sep. 2005, doi: 10.1089/JMF.2005.8.281.
- [145] H. Zbeeb *et al.*, "Polyphenol-enriched extracts of Sarcopoterium spinosum fruits for counteracting lipid accumulation and oxidative stress in an in vitro model of hepatic steatosis," *Fitoterapia*, vol. 172, p. 105743, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.fitote.2023.105743.
- [146] L. C. Green, D. A. Wagner, J. Glogowski, P. L. Skipper, J. S. Wishnok, and S. R. Tannenbaum,
  "Analysis of nitrate, nitrite, and [15N]nitrate in biological fluids," *Anal. Biochem.*, vol. 126, no. 1, pp. 131–138, Oct. 1982, doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(82)90118-X.
- [147] L. G. Rodriguez, X. Wu, and J. L. Guan, "Wound-healing assay," *Methods Mol. Biol.*, vol. 294, pp. 23–29, 2005, doi: 10.1385/1-59259-860-9:023.
- [148] L. A. D. Williams *et al.*, "Selected secondary metabolites from the Phytolaccaceae and their biological/pharmaceutical significance," vol. 6, pp. 13–68, 2002, Accessed: Sep. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.mendeley.com/catalogue/22ba2fdc-fc26-3202-8774-5ceae3c590e6/?utm\_source=desktop&utm\_medium=1.19.8&utm\_campaign=open\_catalog&userDoc

umentId=%7Bd9a539c9-9ab5-3b5d-8854-814ab2c8ea9f%7D

- [149] S. Khurana, K. Venkataraman, A. Hollingsworth, M. Piche, and T. C. Tai, "Polyphenols: Benefits to the Cardiovascular System in Health and in Aging," *Nutrients*, vol. 5, no. 10, p. 3779, 2013, doi: 10.3390/NU5103779.
- [150] M. Valko, D. Leibfritz, J. Moncol, M. T. D. Cronin, M. Mazur, and J. Telser, "Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease," *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 44–84, 2007, doi: 10.1016/J.BIOCEL.2006.07.001.
- [151] A. Phaniendra, D. B. Jestadi, and L. Periyasamy, "Free Radicals: Properties, Sources, Targets, and Their Implication in Various Diseases," *Indian J. Clin. Biochem.*, vol. 30, no. 1, p. 11, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1007/S12291-014-0446-0.
- [152] C. H. Coyle and K. N. Kader, "Mechanisms of H2O2-induced oxidative stress in endothelial cells exposed to physiologic shear stress," ASAIO J., vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 17–22, Jan. 2007, doi: 10.1097/01.MAT.0000247157.84350.E8.
- [153] D. Konukoglu and H. Uzun, "Endothelial Dysfunction and Hypertension," *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.*, vol. 956, pp. 511–540, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1007/5584\_2016\_90.
- [154] L. Vergani *et al.*, "Polyphenolic extract attenuates fatty acid-induced steatosis and oxidative stress in hepatic and endothelial cells," *Eur. J. Nutr.*, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 1793–1805, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1007/S00394-017-1464-5.
- [155] M. Khalil *et al.*, "Protective effects of extracts from Ephedra foeminea Forssk fruits against oxidative injury in human endothelial cells," *J. Ethnopharmacol.*, vol. 260, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.JEP.2020.112976.
- [156] J. Kruk, B. H. Aboul-Enein, E. Duchnik, and M. Marchlewicz, "Antioxidative properties of phenolic compounds and their effect on oxidative stress induced by severe physical exercise," *J. Physiol. Sci.*, vol. 72, no. 1, Dec. 2022, doi: 10.1186/S12576-022-00845-1.
- [157] D. A. Averill-Bates, "The antioxidant glutathione," *Vitam. Horm.*, vol. 121, pp. 109–141, Jan. 2023, doi: 10.1016/BS.VH.2022.09.002.
- [158] C. Gaucher, A. Boudier, J. Bonetti, I. Clarot, P. Leroy, and M. Parent, "Glutathione: Antioxidant Properties Dedicated to Nanotechnologies," *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, vol. 7, no. 5, May 2018, doi: 10.3390/ANTIOX7050062.
- [159] O. Zitka *et al.*, "Redox status expressed as GSH:GSSG ratio as a marker for oxidative stress in paediatric tumour patients," *Oncol. Lett.*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 1247–1253, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.3892/OL.2012.931.
- [160] B. Billack, "Macrophage activation: role of toll-like receptors, nitric oxide, and nuclear factor kappa

B," Am. J. Pharm. Educ., vol. 70, no. 5, 2006, doi: 10.5688/AJ7005102.

- [161] U. Förstermann, "Oxidative stress in vascular disease: causes, defense mechanisms and potential therapies," *Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 338–349, Jun. 2008, doi: 10.1038/NCPCARDIO1211.
- [162] J. L. Wallace, "Nitric oxide as a regulator of inflammatory processes," *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz*, vol. 100 Suppl 1, no. SUPPL. 1, pp. 5–9, 2005, doi: 10.1590/S0074-02762005000900002.
- [163] S. Grande, P. Bogani, A. De Saizieu, G. Schueler, C. Galli, and F. Visioli, "Vasomodulating potential of mediterranean wild plant extracts," *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, vol. 52, no. 16, pp. 5021–5026, Aug. 2004, doi: 10.1021/JF049436E.
- [164] S. Dharmadeva, L. S. Galgamuwa, C. Prasadinie, and N. Kumarasinghe, "In vitro anti-inflammatory activity of Ficus racemosa L. bark using albumin denaturation method," *Ayu*, vol. 39, no. 4, p. 239, 2018, doi: 10.4103/AYU.AYU\_27\_18.
- [165] R. Horwitz and D. Webb, "Cell migration," *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 13, no. 19, pp. R756–R759, Sep. 2003, doi: 10.1016/J.CUB.2003.09.014.
- [166] A. J. Ridley *et al.*, "Cell migration: integrating signals from front to back," *Science*, vol. 302, no. 5651, pp. 1704–1709, Dec. 2003, doi: 10.1126/SCIENCE.1092053.
- [167] T. Velnar and L. Gradisnik, "Tissue Augmentation in Wound Healing: the Role of Endothelial and Epithelial Cells," *Med. Arch. (Sarajevo, Bosnia Herzegovina)*, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 444–448, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.5455/MEDARH.2018.72.444-448.
- [168] T. D. Tonin *et al.*, "Rubus imperialis (Rosaceae) extract and pure compound niga-ichigoside F1: wound healing and anti-inflammatory effects," *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol.*, vol. 389, no. 11, pp. 1235–1244, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.1007/S00210-016-1285-8.
- [169] S. Hanbisa, W. T. Tadesse, and T. Abula, "Evaluation of Wound Healing Activity of 80% Methanol Stem-Bark Extract and Solvent Fractions of Prunus africana (Hook.f.) Kalkman (Rosaceae) in Mice," *J. Exp. Pharmacol.*, vol. 15, pp. 349–365, Sep. 2023, doi: 10.2147/JEP.S426233.
- [170] L. Melguizo-rodríguez, E. de Luna-Bertos, J. Ramos-torrecillas, R. Illescas-montesa, V. J. Costelaruiz, and O. García-martínez, "Potential Effects of Phenolic Compounds That Can Be Found in Olive Oil on Wound Healing," *Foods*, vol. 10, no. 7, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.3390/FOODS10071642.
- [171] C. H. Courtney and J. M. Olefsky, "Insulin Resistance," *Mech. Insul. Action Med. Intell. Unit*, pp. 185–209, Aug. 2023, doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-72204-7\_10.
- [172] A. Melvin and A. Stears, "Severe insulin resistance: pathologies," *Pract. Diabetes*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 189-194a, Jul. 2017, doi: 10.1002/PDI.2116.
- [173] D. D. Thomas, B. E. Corkey, N. W. Istfan, and C. M. Apovian, "Hyperinsulinemia: An Early

Indicator of Metabolic Dysfunction," *J. Endocr. Soc.*, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. 1727–1747, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.1210/JS.2019-00065.

- [174] K. M. Utzschneider and S. E. Kahn, "The Role of Insulin Resistance in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease," J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., vol. 91, no. 12, pp. 4753–4761, Dec. 2006, doi: 10.1210/JC.2006-0587.
- [175] C. J. Nolan and M. Prentki, "Insulin resistance and insulin hypersecretion in the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: Time for a conceptual framework shift," *Diabetes Vasc. Dis. Res.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 118–127, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1177/1479164119827611.
- [176] H. E. Lebovitz, "Insulin resistance: definition and consequences," *Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes*, vol. 109 Suppl 2, no. SUPPL. 2, 2001, doi: 10.1055/S-2001-18576.
- [177] A. E. Brown and M. Walker, "Genetics of Insulin Resistance and the Metabolic Syndrome," *Curr. Cardiol. Rep.*, vol. 18, no. 8, Aug. 2016, doi: 10.1007/S11886-016-0755-4.
- [178] K. E. Merz and D. C. Thurmond, "Role of Skeletal Muscle in Insulin Resistance and Glucose Uptake," *Compr. Physiol.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 785–809, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1002/CPHY.C190029.
- [179] L. Rui, "Energy Metabolism in the Liver," *Compr. Physiol.*, vol. 4, no. 1, p. 177, 2014, doi: 10.1002/CPHY.C130024.
- [180] V. T. Samuel and G. I. Shulman, "Mechanisms for Insulin Resistance: Common Threads and Missing Links," *Cell*, vol. 148, no. 5, pp. 852–871, Mar. 2012, doi: 10.1016/J.CELL.2012.02.017.
- [181] I. Kojta, M. Chacińska, and A. Błachnio-Zabielska, "Obesity, Bioactive Lipids, and Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Insulin Resistance," *Nutrients*, vol. 12, no. 5, May 2020, doi: 10.3390/NU12051305.
- [182] J. O. Jones and M. I. Diamond, "Design and implementation of cell-based assays to model human disease," ACS Chem. Biol., vol. 2, no. 11, pp. 718–724, Nov. 2007, doi: 10.1021/CB700177U.
- [183] V. Kumar and K. D. Gill, "Estimation of Blood Glucose Levels by Glucose Oxidase Method," *Basic Concepts Clin. Biochem. A Pract. Guid.*, pp. 57–60, 2018, doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-8186-6\_13.
- [184] J. F. Teng, C. H. Lee, T. H. Hsu, and H. C. Lo, "Potential activities and mechanisms of extracellular polysaccharopeptides from fermented Trametes versicolor on regulating glucose homeostasis in insulin-resistant HepG2 cells," *PLoS One*, vol. 13, no. 7, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0201131.
- [185] A. Loewa, J. J. Feng, and S. Hedtrich, "Human disease models in drug development," *Nat. Rev. Bioeng. 2023 18*, vol. 1, no. 8, pp. 545–559, May 2023, doi: 10.1038/s44222-023-00063-3.
- [186] J. Kim, B. K. Koo, and J. A. Knoblich, "Human organoids: model systems for human biology and medicine," *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, vol. 21, no. 10, pp. 571–584, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1038/S41580-020-0259-3.

- [187] F. Baldini *et al.*, "Adipocyte hypertrophy parallels alterations of mitochondrial status in a cell model for adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity," *Life Sci.*, vol. 265, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.LFS.2020.118812.
- [188] F. Baldini *et al.*, "Aquaporin-9 is involved in the lipid-lowering activity of the nutraceutical silybin on hepatocytes through modulation of autophagy and lipid droplets composition," *Biochim. Biophys. acta. Mol. cell Biol. lipids*, vol. 1865, no. 3, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.BBALIP.2019.158586.
- [189] A. M. Rivas and K. Nugent, "Hyperglycemia, Insulin, and Insulin Resistance in Sepsis," Am. J. Med. Sci., vol. 361, no. 3, pp. 297–302, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.AMJMS.2020.11.007.
- [190] R. Muniyappa and J. R. Sowers, "Role of Insulin Resistance in Endothelial Dysfunction," *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 5, Mar. 2013, doi: 10.1007/S11154-012-9229-1.
- [191] K. Schousboe, P. M. Visscher, J. E. Henriksen, J. L. Hopper, T. I. A. Sørensen, and K. O. Kyvik, "Twin study of genetic and environmental influences on glucose tolerance and indices of insulin sensitivity and secretion," *Diabetologia*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 1276–1283, Sep. 2003, doi: 10.1007/S00125-003-1165-X.
- [192] B. E. Corkey, "Banting lecture 2011: hyperinsulinemia: cause or consequence?," *Diabetes*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 4–13, Jan. 2012, doi: 10.2337/DB11-1483.
- [193] J. L. Carpentier, M. Fehlmann, E. Van Obberghen, P. Gorden, and L. Orci, "Insulin receptor internalization and recycling: mechanism and significance," *Biochimie*, vol. 67, no. 10–11, pp. 1143– 1145, 1985, doi: 10.1016/S0300-9084(85)80112-7.
- [194] S. C. Yip, S. Saha, and J. Chernoff, "PTP1B: a double agent in metabolism and oncogenesis," *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, vol. 35, no. 8, pp. 442–449, Aug. 2010, doi: 10.1016/J.TIBS.2010.03.004.
- [195] D. F. Lazar and A. R. Saltiel, "Lipid phosphatases as drug discovery targets for type 2 diabetes," *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 333–342, Apr. 2006, doi: 10.1038/NRD2007.
- [196] M. Ishii, A. Maeda, S. Tani, and M. Akagawa, "Palmitate induces insulin resistance in human HepG2 hepatocytes by enhancing ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of key insulin signaling molecules," *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, vol. 566, pp. 26–35, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1016/J.ABB.2014.12.009.
- [197] A. Solini, F. Di Virgilio, P. Chiozzi, P. Fioretto, A. Passaro, and R. Fellin, "A defect in glycogen synthesis characterizes insulin resistance in hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes," *Hypertens.* (*Dallas, Tex. 1979*), vol. 37, no. 6, pp. 1492–1496, 2001, doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.37.6.1492.
- [198] A. W. Thorburn, B. Gumbiner, F. Bulacan, G. Brechtel, and R. R. Henry, "Multiple defects in muscle glycogen synthase activity contribute to reduced glycogen synthesis in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus," *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 489–495, 1991, doi: 10.1172/JCI115022.

[199] M. Kusunoki *et al.*, "Correlation between lipid and glycogen contents in liver and insulin resistance in high-fat-fed rats treated with the lipoprotein lipase activator NO-1886," *Metabolism.*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 792–795, 2002, doi: 10.1053/meta.2002.32732.